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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below unless the

context requires otherwise:
“associate(s)”
“Board”

“Company”

“connected person(s)”
“controlling shareholder(s)”

“Directors”

“Excess Loan”

“Further Financing”

“Group”

“Hong Kong”

has the meaning given to it in the Listing Rules
the board of Directors

ONFEM Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange

has the meaning given to it in the Listing Rules
has the meaning given to it in the Listing Rules

the directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) of the Company

29% (amounting to approximately RMB44,437,000
or HK$42,728,000) of the remaining amount of the
Initial Financing of approximately RMB153,230,000
(approximately HK$147,337,000), being the Initial
Financing of RMB180,000,000 (approximately
HK$173,077,000) less the contribution from WODL
of US$957,000 (approximately HK$7,465,000) and
ONFEM SPV’s share in funding the registered
capital of the Project Company of US$2,343,000
(approximately HK$18,275,000)

the outstanding financing needs of the Project
Company from time to time beyond the Initial
Financing and financing from financial institutions
that could be arranged by the Project Company or
the registered capital of the Project Company, that
has to be increased (in addition to the present initial
registered capital of US$3,300,000 (approximately
HK$25,740,000))

the Company and its subsidiaries

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the PRC
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“Independent Board Committee” the independent board committee of the Company
comprising Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel, Mr. Selwyn Mar
and Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, which has
been formed by the Board for the purpose of
advising the Independent Shareholders in respect
of the terms of the Transaction

“Independent Shareholders” all Shareholders excluding any connected person
with a material interest in the Transaction and any
Shareholder with a material interest in the
Transaction, and in this case, the Directors, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief and
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that
all Shareholders are independent from WODL and
do not have a material interest in the Transaction

“Initial Financing” the total financing of approximately
RMB180,000,000 (approximately HK$173,077,000)
before financing from financial institutions is
expected to be arranged and made available to the
Project Company, as estimated by ONFEM SPV and
WODL, required by the Project Company to meet
the full payment of the relevant land premium and
other preliminary expenses, including the registered
capital of the Project Company of US$3,300,000
(approximately HK$25,740,000)

“June Glory” . June Glory International Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited as well
as the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company directly and
indirectly interested in approximately 53.95% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the Latest
Practicable Date

“KIL” Karman Industries Limited, a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company
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//Landﬂ

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Mr. Ser”
“Mr. Tsui”

“ODCL” or “Joint Venture
Company”

“ONFEM SPV”

//PRCI/

“Project Company”

“SFO”

“Share Transfer”

the piece of land situated in Science Park, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, the PRC (' Bl Fg 5 7 /T % [ 7} 22
), and described as land N0.2005G108 in the State
Land Use Rights Transfer Contract (B A& £ # {F A
¥ 7 45 [F) entered into between ODCL and The
Bureau of Land Resources, Jiangning Branch,
Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC (4 B /L& & &
T B £ B iR R IL%E 5 ) on 27 December 2005

19 May 2006, being the latest practicable date prior
to the printing of this circular for ascertaining
certain information for inclusion in this circular

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange

Mr. Ser Kee Lee, elder brother of Mr. Tsui
Mr. Tsui Ki Ting, younger brother of Mr. Ser

Oriental Dragon Construction Limited, a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company before completion of
the Share Transfer. ODCL is currently owned as to
99.8% and 0.2% by KIL and SL (in trust for KIL)
respectively, and as to 70.8%, 0.2% and 29% by KIL,
SL (in trust for KIL) and WODL respectively after
completion of the Share Transfer

KIL and SL

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose
of this circular excluding Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

BEHE (FR) BEXAMRLF (Dragon Construction
(Nanjing) Properties Company Limited), a company
established on 5 January 2006 in the PRC and
wholly-owned by ODCL

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

the transfer of a 29% equity interest in ODCL from

KIL to WODL pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the Shareholders” Agreement
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“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Shares

“Shareholders’ Agreement” the shareholders’ agreement of ODCL dated
11 April 2006 entered into amongst ONFEM SPV,
WODL and ODCL

“Shares” shares of par value of HK$0.10 each in the issued
share capital of the Company

“SL” Stillpower Limited, a company incorporated under
the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company
“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
“Transaction” the formation of the Joint Venture Company

including the provision of the Excess Loan

“WODL” World Ocean Development Limited, a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability, which is owned as to:

26.67% by Mr. Tsui;

23.33% by Mr. Ser;

10% by Ms. Yau Man Chun, Mr. Tsui's wife;

15% by Mr. Tsui Fung, Jack, Mr. Tsui’s son;

15% by Mr. Tsui Ngai, Stanley, Mr. Tsui’s son; and
10% by Ms. Tsui Dan, Daphne, Mr. Ser’s daughter

“working days” days on which banks in Hong Kong are generally
open for businesses (excluding Saturdays)

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the

United States of America
% percentage

Unless otherwise stated, the conversion of RMB and US$ into HKS$ is based on the exchange
rate of HK$1.00 = RMB1.04 and US$1.00 = HK$7.80 respectively. Such conversion should not be
construed as a representation that the amount in question has been, could have been or could be
converted at any particular rate or at all.
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ONFEM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code : 230)

Executive Directors: Registered office:
Mr. ZHOU Zhongshu, Chairman Canon’s Court
Mr. WANG Xingdong, Managing Director 22 Victoria Street
Mr. YAN Xichuan, Deputy Managing Director Hamilton HM 12
Mr. QIAN Wenchao Bermuda

Ms. HE Xiaoli
Principal place of business

Independent Non-executive Directors: in Hong Kong:
Mr. LAM Chun, Daniel 18th Floor
Mr. Selwyn MAR China Minmetals Tower
Ms. TAM Wai Chu, Maria 79 Chatham Road South
Tsimshatsui
Kowloon
Hong Kong
24 May 2006

To the Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
FORMATION OF THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY
FOR A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT IN NANJING, THE PRC
INCLUDING
PROVISION OF FINANCING TO THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY

1. INTRODUCTION

The Company announced on 11 April 2006 that ONFEM SPV entered into the
Shareholders’” Agreement with WODL and ODCL, pursuant to which ODCL will become
the Joint Venture Company to undertake the property development on the Land through
the Project Company. Upon completion of the Share Transfer, the equity interests in ODCL
will be owned as to 71% by the Group and as to 29% by WODL.

The Transaction (formation of the Joint Venture Company including the provision of
the Excess Loan) constitutes a major and connected transaction for the Company under
the Listing Rules.




LETTER FROM THE BOARD }

June Glory is the controlling shareholder of the Company directly and indirectly
holding 416,585,852 Shares, representing approximately 53.95% of the issued share capital
of the Company as of the Latest Practicable Date. June Glory is not (i) a party to the
Shareholders’ Agreement or (ii) an associate of {a) any party to the Shareholders’ Agreement
or (b) any shareholder of any party to the Shareholders’” Agreement (save for June Glory's
interests held through the Company) and does not have any material interest in the
Transaction pursuant to Rules 2.15 and 2.16 of the Listing Rules. As such, June Glory will
not be required to abstain from voting at a general meeting of the Company to approve
the Transaction. Furthermore, no Shareholder will be required to abstain from voting at a
general meeting of the Company to approve the Transaction. The Company has obtained
a shareholder’s written approval from June Glory with respect to the resolution to
approve the Transaction. In order to save time and costs in convening a general meeting,
the Company has made an application to the Stock Exchange under Rules 14,44 and
14A.43 of the Listing Rules for a waiver from the requirement for the Transaction to be
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting and the Stock Exchange has granted
such waiver accordingly.

The purpose of this circular is to (i) provide the Shareholders with further details in
relation to the Shareholders” Agreement; (ii) set out the advice from the Independent
Board Committee to the Independent Shareholders; and (iii) set out the advice from Access
Capital Limited to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
in respect of the terms of the Transaction.

2. THE SHAREHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT
Date
11 April 2006
Parties
(1) ONEFEM SPV;

(2) WODL, a company with principal business activity of investment holding;
and

(3) ODCL
Subject matter

The Shareholders” Agreement sets out, among other things, the transfer of a
29% equity interest in ODCL from KIL to WODL and how the Joint Venture Company

shall be managed and operated, including the funding arrangements for the Joint
Venture Company and the Project Company.
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Background

On 21 December 2005, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent
with Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser in respect of the major terms relating to the bidding of
and the joint development of the Land on a 71:29 basis. On the same date, through
its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, ODCL, the Company submitted a bid to acquire
the land use rights of the Land at a price of RMB160,000,000 (approximately
HK$153,846,000) in a public tender and such bid was awarded to ODCL on
23 December 2005.

On 5 January 2006, ODCL established the Project Company to acquire the
legal title of the Land and undertake the property development project thereon. The
Company had paid up the registered capital of the Project Company of US5$3,300,000
(approximately FHK$25,740,000). Mr. Tsui was appointed as one of the four directors
of the Project Company upor its establishment.

As part of the negotiations amongst the Company, Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser in
relation to the bidding of and the joint development of the Land, it was intended
that Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser would form a joint venture with the Group through
WODL which is owned by Mr. Tsui (together with his wife and sons) and Mr. Ser
(together with his daughter), and WODL will own 29% equity interest in such joint
venture. It is against this background that the Shareholders’ Agreement was entered
into amongst ONFEM SPV, WODL and ODCL. Pursuant to the Shareholders’
Agreement, KIL will transfer 29% equity interest in ODCL to WODL for a cash
consideration of HK$2,900. As a result, ODCL will become the Joint Venture Company
owned as to 71% by the Group and as to 29% by WODL upon completion of the
Share Transfer. ODCL will continue to be a subsidiary of the Company and its
financial statements will continue to be consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements.

Business objectives of the Joint Venture Company and the Project Company

The Joint Venture Company is an investment holding company of the Project
Company, the principal business of which will be property development on the
Land.

Management of the Joint Venture Company and the Project Company

The board of directors of each of the Joint Venture Company and the Project
Company will comprise four directors. ONFEM SPV and WODL will be entitled to
nominate three clirectors and one director to each of the board of directors of the
Joint Venture Company and the Project Company respectively. All major matters in
relation to the property development project on the Land will be decided by the
board of directors of the Joint Venture Company or the Project Company (as the
case may be).

The Project Company will be managed by senior management nominated by
ONFEM SPV and WODL respectively.

-7
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Estimated initial investment amount and funding arrangements of the Joint
Venture Company and the Project Company

ONFEM 5PV and WODL estimate that the Initial Financing would be amounted
to approximately RMB180,000,000 (approximately HK$173,077,000). The Initial
Financing will be provided by the Joint Venture Company by way of registered
capital and shareholders’ loans.

On 9 December 2005, the Company (on behalf of ONFEM SPV) received from
WODL a sum of US$957,000 (approximately HK$7,465,000) in cash as the share of
Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser of the tender deposit for the Land pursuant to the negotiations
of the above mentioned non-binding letter of intent between the Company and
Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser. Upon completion of the Share Transfer, such payment from
WODL will be applied as the shareholder’s loan from WODL to the Joint Venture
Company in proportion to its equity interest in the Joint Venture Company for the
purpose of funding the registered capital of the Project Company.

Pursuant to the Shareholders” Agreement, the remaining amount of the Initial
Financing of approximately RMB153,230,000 (approximately HK$147,337,000), being
the Initial Financing of RMB180,000,000 (approximately HK$173,077,000) less the
contribution from WODL of US$957,000 (approximately HK$7,465,000) and ONFEM
SPV’s share in funding the registered capital of the Project Company of US$2,343,000
(approximately HK$18,275,000), will be provided solely by ONFEM SPV (and/or its
specified company or companies) by way of shareholder’s loans to the Joint Venture
Company. As part of the negotiations amongst the Company, Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser
and under the Shareholders’ Agreement, to provide security for the repayment of
the Excess Loan by the Joint Venture Company to ONFEM SPV, WODL will pledge
(or will procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses, children and/or
the companies wholly-owned by one or more of the above individuals to pledge) to
ONFEM SPV certain unencumbered properties (the “Pledging Properties”), which
are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with an aggregate acceptable value of not less
than the Excess Loan. All of the Pledging Properties are real estate properties in
Hong Kong.

According to the estimates made by the Project Company, the aforesaid
shareholders’ loans of approximately HK$7,465,000 due to WODL and approximately
HK$165,612,000 due to ONFEM SPV by the Joint Venture Company are expected to
be repaid in full by 2009 when phase 1 of the development of the Land is sold.

The Company has engaged RHL Appraisal Limited, independent property
valuers, to assess the value of the Pledging Properties (which comprise five residential
and two commercial properties) and according to the valuation conducted by RHL
Appraisal Limited, the Pledging Properties were valued in aggregate at approximately
HK$53,500,000 as of 31 March 2006.

The Project Company shall arrange financing from financial institutions to
fund its financing needs beyond the Initial Financing. If financing from financial
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institutions is insufficient or if the registered capital of the Project Company has to
be increased (in addition to the initial registered capital of 1J5$3,300,000
(approximately HK$25,740,000)), ONFEM SPV and WODL may (and should in the
case of an increase in the registered capital of the Project Company) provide funds
to the Joint Venture Company by way of shareholders’ loans in proportion to their
respective equity interests in the Joint Venture Company to fund the Further
Financing.

The Shareholders’ Agreement also provides for the possibility of the Further
Financing (except in the case of an increase in the registered capital of the Project
Company) be provided solely by ONFEM SPV by way of shareholder’s loans to the
Joint Venture Company from time to time. In such case, WODL shall pledge (or
shall procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses, children and/or the
companies wholly-owned by one or more of the above individuals to pledge) to
ONFEM SPV unencumbered asset(s) which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with
an aggregate acceptable value of not less than the share of the relevant shareholder’s
loans in proportion to the then equity interest of WODL in the Joint Venture
Company.

Pursuant to the Shareholders” Agreement, the Company can from time to time
appoint property valuers to revalue the Pledging Properties and any other assets
pledged by WODL (or procured to be pledged by WODL) to ONFEM 5PV pursuant
to the Shareholders” Agreement (the “Total Pledging Assets”), and if the revaluation
amount of the Total Pledging Assets (the “Total Pledging Assets Revaluation”) is
below the aggregate amount of the valuation of the Total Pledging Assets at the
respective time when such properties and/or assets were pledged to ONFEM SPV
(the “Total Pledging Assets Valuation”), WODL agrees to, at the direction of ONFEM
SPV, pledge (or procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses, children
and/or the companies wholly-owned by one or more of the above individuals to
pledge) to ONFEM SPV additional unencumbered assets(s) (the “Additional Pledging
Assets”), which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with an aggregate acceptable
value of not less than the difference between the Total Pledging Assets Valuation
and the Total Pledging Assets Revaluation.

If the Joint Venture Cornpany is not able to repay the portion of its outstanding
shareholder’s loan owing to ONFEM SPV as secured by the Total Pledging Assets
and the Additional Pledging Assets (if any), ONFEM SPV is entitled to enforce such
security to satisfy such portion of such outstanding shareholder’s loan.

The shareholding structure of ODCL will be adjusted in proportion to the
contributions (including shareholders’ loans and acceptable value of assets pledged)
of ONFEM SPV and WODL in ODCL if (i) in the case of the Further Financing
(other than an increase in the registered capital of the Project Company), WODL is
not able to provide shareholder’s loans or to pledge (or to procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser
and/or their respective spouses, children and/or the companies wholly-owned by
one or more of the above individuals to pledge) unencumbered asset(s) which are
acceptable to ONFEM SPV, or (ii) in the case of an increase in the registered capital
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of the Project Company, WODL is not able to provide shareholder’s loan, or (iii)
WODL is not able to provide (or procure the provision of) the Additional Pledging
Assets. .

Since the amount of the Further Financing, if any, cannot be ascertained at the
time of the execution of the Shareholders” Agreement, the Company will comply
with the applicable disclosure and shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules to the extent required when the amount of the Further Financing, if
any, could be ascertained.

Conditions precedent
The Shareholders’ Agreement is subject to the following conditions precedent:

(1) the Company shall obtain the approval of its Shareholders in a general
meeting or a shareholders’ written approval acceptable to the Stock
Exchange for the Transaction in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

(2) WODL shall pledge or procure the pledge of the unencumbered
properties to ONFEM SPV as described under the paragraph entitled
“Estimated initial investment amount and funding arrangements of the
Joint Venture Company and the Project Company” above.

Condition precedent (1) has been fulfilled. If condition precedent (2) is not
fulfilled or waived on or before 15 June 2006 or a later date to be agreed by ONFEM
SPV and WODL, the Shareholders’ Agreement shall terminate, and none of the
parties to the Shareholders’ Agreement shall be entitled to the rights or required to
perform the obligations under the Shareholders’ Agreement, save as rights and
remedies which have accrued prior to the termination of the Shareholders’
Agreement.

Completion

Completion of the Share Transfer will take place within 10 working days of
ONFEM SPV giving a written notice to WODL of the satisfaction and/or waiver of
the conditions precedent above or such later date as ONFEM SPV and WODL may
agree. Upon completion of the Share Transfer, KIL will transfer to WODL 2,900
ordinary shares in ODCL, representing 29% of the issued share capital of ODCL, at
a consideration which equals the par value of HK$1 per share in ODCL. The Joint
Venture Company has a paid-up capital of HK$10,000. The consideration for such
transfer of HK$2,900 will be payable in cash by WODL at completion of the Share
Transfer. ‘

3. FURTHER INFORMATION OF THE LAND

The Land is a piece of raw land for residential use including ancillary commercial
facilities. The total area of the Land is approximately 310,295.5 square metres with an
estimated total gross floor area of approximately 237,665.4 square metres.
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The Company has engaged RHL Appraisal Limited to value the Land and the Land
was valued at RMB160,000,000 (approximately HK$153,846,000 as of 31 March 2006 (the
valuation report dated 24 May 2006 is included in Appendix III to this circular).

As of the Latest Practicable Date, RMB112,000,000 (approximately HK$107,692,000)
of the total land premium of the Land of RMB160,000,000 (approximately HK$153,846,000)
was paid. The remaining balance of the land premium of the Land is expected to be paid
on or before 30 May 2006. Upon full payment of such land premium, the land use rights
certificate of the Land is expected to be issued at around July 2006.

4, SOURCE CF FUNDING

The investment to be made by ONFEM SPV in the Joint Venture Company will be
funded by the Group’s internal resources and borrowings from financial institutions. No
decision has yet been made as to the split between the funding of the total investment by
ONFEM SPV in the Joint Venture Company by way of internal resources and external
borrowings. As of the Latest Practicable Date, through ONFEM SPV by way of shareholder’s
loans, the Group provided a total sum of financing of approximately HK$143,183,000, of
which approximately HK$70,000,000 was funded by bank borrowings and approximately
HK$73,183,000 was funded by the internal resources of the Group, to the Joint Venture
Company. The remaining amount of the Initial Financing of approximately RMB153,230,000
(approximately HK$147,337,000) is expected to be fully financed by the Group, through
ONFEM SPV by way of shareholder’s loans, before or by around June 2006.

5. FINANCIAL EFFECTS

The investment of ONFEM SPV in the Joint Venture Company will be funded by the
Group’s internal resources and borrowings from financial institutions, which will increase
the gearing of the Group. The formation of the Joint Venture Company has no material
impact on the net assets of the Group.

The aforesaid increase in borrowings of the Group will increase the finance cost of
the Group. However, since the shareholders’ loans with respect to the Initial Financing
will be provided by the Group to the Joint Venture Company and in turn to the Project
Company at prevailing interest rate payable by the Project Company on loan of similar
amount, duration and terms in the PRC and the finance cost will be capitalised during the
course of development of the Land, accordingly the earnings of the Group will not be
affected materially on a consolidated basis in this respect.

According to the audited financial statements of ODCL as at 31 December 2005,
ODCL was in a net liability position of approximately HK$13,000 and its loss before and
after tax for the year ended 31 December 2005 was approximately HK$1,051,000.
Accordingly, the transfer of the 29% equity interest in ODCL to WODL for HK$2,900 will
give rise to a gain of approximately HK$6,670 for the Group based on the audited net
liability of ODCL as at 31 December 2005. Both of the audited loss before and after tax of
ODCL for the year ended 31 December 2004 amounted to approximately HK$16,000. The
Group intends to use such proceeds for general working capital purposes.
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6. REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF ENTERING INTO THE SHAREHOLDERS'
AGREEMENT AND PROVIDING THE EXCESS LOAN

The Group is principally engaged in real estate development, specialised construction,
property leasing, manufacturing and trading and securities investment and trading
businesses. As set out in the recent annual reports of the Company, the Group stated
clearly that it would focus on property development as one of its principal businesses.
The property development project on the Land is in line with the business objectives of
the Group.

Mr. Tsui has extensive knowledge and experience in property development in the
PRC and particularly in Nanjing. Mr. Tsui has managed and invested with his business
partners in three residential property development projects in Nanjing, the PRC, of which
one project has been completed and sold and the remaining two projects are in the-selling
phase (with units substantially sold). Mr. Tsui has also managed and invested with his
business partners in two residential property development projects in Beijing, of which
one is currently in the selling phase and the other one is in the planning stage. The
management believes that Mr. Tsui is familiar with the local property market environment
and has the business and personal network desirable for property development in Nanjing,
the PRC, and that such attributes would be conducive to the development of the Land.

As a result of the negotiations with respect to the cooperation between Mr. Tsui and
Mr. Ser on the one part and the Group on the other part, ONFEM SPV (or through its
specified company or companies) has agreed to provide the Excess Loan to the Joint
Venture Company. The Excess Loan, like other shareholders’ loans provided to the Joint
Venture Company, will be subject to an interest rate equivalent to prevailing interest rate
on a loan of similar amount, duration and terms in the PRC.

The Directors confirm that the terms of the Shareholders’” Agreement were determined
after arm’s length negotiations and on normal commercial terms and that the terms
thereunder are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. '

7. CONNECTED AND MAJOR TRANSACTION AND WAIVER FROM
REQUIREMENT OF HOLDING A GENERAL MEETING

Since Mr. Tsui was a director of the Project Company at the time the Shareholders’
Agreement was entered into, he is a connected person of the Company by virtue of the
fact that he is a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Furthermore, since Mr. Tsui and
his associates are jointly the controlling shareholders of WODL, WODL is a connected
person of the Company. As such, the joint venture arrangements between ONFEM SPV
and WODL with respect to the Joint Venture Company including the provision of the
Excess Loan constitutes a connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules.
Save for the connection between Mr. Tsui and the Company and the relationships amongst
Mr. Tsui and the remaining shareholders of WODL as mentioned above, the Directors, to
the best of their knowledge, information and belief and having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that the shareholders of WODL are independent third parties not
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connected with the Directors, chief executive and substantial shareholders of the Company
and its subsidiaries and their respective associates. In addition, the Directors, to the best
of their knowledge, information and belief and having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that none of the shareholders of WODL holds any securities of the Company as of
the Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the applicable size tests regarding the total capital commitment (including
equity and loans) of the Group with respect to the Transaction, the relevant percentage
ratio under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules exceeds 25% but is less than 75%. Accordingly,
the Transaction also constitutes a major transaction for the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The Transaction will therefore be subject to the approval by the Independent
Shareholders and in a general meeting by poll under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

June Glory is the controlling shareholder of the Company directly and indirectly
holding 416,585,852 Shares, representing approximately 53.95% of the issued share capital
of the Company as of the Latest Practicable Date. June Glory is not (i) a party to the
Shareholders” Agreement or (ii) an associate of (a) any party to the Shareholders” Agreement
or (b) any shareholder of any party to the Shareholders” Agreement (save for June Glory’s
interests held through the Company) and does not have any material interest in the
Transaction pursuant to Rules 2.15 and 2.16 of the Listing Rules. As such, June Glory will
not be required to abstain from voting at a general meeting of the Company to approve
the Transaction. Furthermore, no Shareholder will be required to abstain from voting at a
general meeting of the Company to approve the Transaction. The Company has obtained
a shareholder’s written approval from June Glory with respect to the resolution to
approve the Transaction. In order to save time and costs in convening a general meeting,
the Company has made an application to the Stock Exchange under Rules 14.44 and
14A.43 of the Listing Rules for a waiver from the requirement for the Transaction to be
approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting and the Stock Exchange has granted
such waiver accordingly.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel, Mr. Selwyn
Mar and Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria, has been formed by the Board to advise the Independent
Shareholders in respect of the Transaction. Access Capital Limited has been appointed as
the independent financial adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Transaction.

8. PROSPECTS

As the overseas listed real estate development vehicle of China Minmetals
Corporation, the Group will focus on developing its real estate development business in
the PRC and at the same time actively seek high-potential projects in other industries. By
so doing, the Group will be able to diversify its business and broaden its source of earnings,
thus achieving the objective of “Expanding business, enhancing profits”.
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Starting in 2005, in order to identify appropriate real estate development projects,
the Group conducted researches on residential and commercial real estate markets in
major cities in the PRC, primarily in the Pearl River Delta region, followed by Beijing,
Shanghai, Guangzhou and Nanjing as well as the peripheral areas such as the Yangtze
River Delta region.

In 2005, macroeconomic austerity measures launched by the PRC Government were
aimed at guiding the national real estate market onto a healthy development path. Demand
for residential and commercial properties in the PRC remains. The Group is confident of
its development in the PRC real estate market. The Directors believe that, major events
such as the 2008 Olympics Games in Beijing, the 2010 World Expo in Shanghai, and the
Asian Games in Guangzhou will bring about business opportunities for the Group’s core
businesses. Capitalising on the synergistic advantages among its subsidiaries, the Group
is committed to providing customers with ever better quality products and services, and
enhancing its overall performance and profitability. Furthermore, the Group will continue
to strengthen its corporate governance and improve its corporate transparency so as to
enhance its image.

9. INDEPENDENT ADVICE

Access Capital Limited has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to
advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in respect of
the terms of the Transaction. Your attention is drawn to (i) the letter from the Independent
Board Committee which is set out on pages 15 to 16 of this circular containing the
recommendation from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent Shareholders
in respect of the Transaction; and (ii) the letter from Access Capital Limited which is set
out on pages 17 to 29 of this circular containing its advice to the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Transaction
and the principal factors and reasons considered by Access Capital Limited in arriving at
its recommendations.

Having taken into account the advice from Access Capital Limited and in particular
the principal factors and reasons considered set out in the letter from Access Capital
Limited, the Independent Board Committee considers that the terms of the Transaction are
fair and reasonable so far as the Shareholders are concerned and are in the interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is also drawn to the financial information of the Group, pro forma
financial information of the Group, valuation report of the Land and the general information
set out in the appendices to this circular.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of
ONFEM Holdings Limited
Wang Xingdong
Managing Director

-~ 14 -
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W

ONFEM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code : 230)
24 May 2006
To the Independent Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
FORMATION OF THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY
FOR A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT IN NANJING, THE PRC
' INCLUDING
PROVISION OF FINANCING TO THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY

We refer to the circular dated 24 May 2006 of the Company (the “Circular”) of
which this letter forms part. Terms defined in the Circular bear the same meanings herein
unless the context otherwise requires.

We have been appointed as members of the Independent Board Committee to consicer
the terms of the Transaction and to advise the Independent Shareholders whether, in our
opinion, the terms of the Transaction are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent
Shareholders are concerned. Access Capital Limited has been appointed as the independent
financial adviser to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders in respect of the terms of the Transaction.

We wish to draw your attention to the letter from the Board set out on pages 5 to 14
of the Circular which contains, inter alia, information about the Transaction, and the letter
from Access Capital Limited set out on pages 17 to 29 of the Circular which contains its
advice in respect of the terms of the Transaction and the additional information set out in
the appendices to the Circular.

Having considered the reasons for and benefits of entering into the Shareholders’
Agreement and considering the principal factors taken into account by Access Capital
Limited in arriving at its opinion regarding the Transaction set out in the letter from
Access Capital Limited on pages 17 to 29 of the Circular, we consider that the terms of the
Transaction are fair and reasonable and the Transaction is in the interests of the Company
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and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, we recommend the Independent
Shareholders to vote in favour of the ordinary resolution in relation to the Transaction if a
special general meeting is held to approve the Transaction.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Independent Board Committee

Lam Chun, Daniel Selwyn Mar Tam Wai Chu, Maria
Independent Independent Independent
Non-executive Director Non-executive Director Non-executive Director
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The following is the full text of the advice to the Independent Board Commitiee and the
Independent Shareholders from Access Capital Limited prepared for incorporation in this circular.

A

(=)

A4
ACCESS
CAPITAL

Suite 606
6th Floor
Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road
Central
Hong Kong

24 May 2006
To the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
FORMATION OF THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY
FOR A PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT IN NAN]JING, THE PRC
INCLUDING
PROVISION OF FINANCING TO THE JOINT VENTURE COMPANY

I INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the independent financial adviser to the Independent
Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders with regard to the formation of the
Joint Venture Company including the provision of shareholder’s loan equivalent to 29% of
the remaining amount of the Initial Financing (the “Transaction”). Details of the Transaction
are contained in the “Letter from the Board” set out in the circular to the Shareholders
dated 24 May 2006 (the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part. Terms used in this
letter shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular unless the context
otherwise requires.

As mentioned in the “Letter from the Board”, since Mr. Tsui was a director of the
Project Company at the time the Shareholders’ Agreement was entered into, he is a
connected person of the Company by virtue of the fact that he is a director of a subsidiary
of the Company. Furthermore, since Mr. Tsui and his associates are jointly the controlling
shareholders of WODL, WODL is a connected person of the Company. As such, the joint
venture arrangements between ONFEM SPV and WODL with respect to the Joint Venture
Company including the provision of the shareholder’s loan of approximately
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HK$42,728,000 to the Joint Venture Company constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Based on the applicable size tests
regarding the total capital commitment (including equity and loans) of the Group with
respect to the Transaction, the Transaction also constituted a major transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Transaction will therefore be subject to the approval by the Independent
Shareholders in a general meeting of the Company by poll under Chapter 14 and
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

June Glory is the controlling shareholder of the Company, directly and indirectly,
holding approximately 53.95% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date with regard to the Transaction. As stated in the “Letter from the Board”,
June Glory is not (i) a party to the Shareholders” Agreement or (ii) an associate of (a) any
party to the Shareholders’ Agreement or (b) any shareholder of any party to the
Shareholders’ Agreement (save for June Glory’s interests held through the Company) and
does not have any material interest in the Transaction pursuant to Rules 2.15 and 2.16 of
the Listing Rules. As such, June Glory will not be required to abstain from voting at a
general meeting of the Company to approve the Transaction. Furthermore, no Shareholder
will be required to abstain from voting at a general meeting of the Company to approve
the Transaction.

As stated in the “Letter from the Board”, the Company has obtained a shareholder’s
written approval from June Glory with respect to the resolution to approve the Transaction.
In order to save time and costs in convening a general meeting of the Company, the
Company has made an application to the Stock Exchange under Rules 14.44 and 14A.43 of
the Listing Rules for a waiver from the requirement for the Transaction to be approved by
the Shareholders in a general meeting and such waiver was granted by the Stock Exchange.

Although the requirement for the Transaction to be approved by the Shareholders in
a general meeting of the Company is waived, the Company is required to establish an
independent board committee (comprising the independent non-executive Directors) to
advise the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Transaction and to publish a circular
containing, among other things, details of the Transaction and the advice of the Independent
Board Committee.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel, Mr. Selwyn
Mar and Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria (all of whom are independent non-executive Directors),
has been established to consider the Transaction and to advise the Independent
Shareholders. We have been appointed by the Independent Board Committee to advise
the Independent Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Transaction are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, and to
give our opinion in relation thereof for its consideration in issuing its opinion to the
Independent Shareholders.
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II. BASIS AND ASSUMPTION OF THE ADVICE

In formulating our advice, we have relied principally on the statements, information,
opinion and representations contained in the Circular and the information and
representations provided to us by the Company, the Directors and the senior management
of the Company. We have assumed that all such statements, information, assumptions,
estimates, opinion and representations contained or referred to in the Circular or otherwise
provided to us by the Company, the Directors and the senior management of the Company
and for which they are solely responsible were true and accurate and valid at the time
they were made and given and continue to be true and valid as at the date of the Circular.
We have also assumed that all statements of belief, opinion and intention of the Board as
set out in the “Letter from the Board” of the Circular and this letter have been reasonably
made after due and careful enquiry. We have also sought and obtained confirmation from
the Company, the Directors and the senior management of the Company that no material
facts have been omitted from the information provided and referred to in the Circular.

We consider that we have reviewed all currently available information and documents
which are available under the present circumstances and have performed all necessary
steps as required under Rule 13.80 of the Listing Rules, including the notes thereto, to
enable us to reach an informed view and to justify our reliance on the information provided
so as to provide a reasonable basis of our opinion. We have no reason to doubt the truth,
accuracy and completeness of the information and representations provided to us by the
Company, the Directors and the senior management of the Company, and their respective
advisers or to believe that material information has been withheld or omitted from the
information provided to us or referred to in the aforesaid documents. We have not, however,
carried out an independent verification of the information provided (in particular with
regard to the Land, the Pledging Properties (as defined below) and WODL), nor have we
concluded an independent investigation into the business and affairs of the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries.

III. PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In formulating our recommendation, we have taken into consideration the following
principal factors and reasons:

1. Principal activities and business strategy of the Group

The Group is principally engaged in real estate development, specialised
construction, property leasing, manufacturing and trading and securities investment
and trading businesses.

As stated in the annual reports of the Company for the year ended 31 December

2005, the Group would focus on property development as one of its principal
businesses.
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Background to, reasons for and benefits of the Transaction
a. Background to the Transaction

As stated in the “Letter from the Board”, on 21 December 2005, the
Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with Mr. Tsui and Mr.
Ser in respect of the major terms relating to the bidding for, and the joint
development of, the Land on a 71:29 basis. On the same date, through its
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, ODCL, the Company submitted a bid to
acquire the land use rights of the Land at a price of RMB160,000,000
(approximately HK$153,846,000) in a public tender and such bid was awarded
to ODCL on 23 December 2005.

Also described in the “Letter from the Board”, on 5 January 2006, ODCL
established the Project Company to acquire the legal title of the Land and
undertake the property development project thereon. The Company had paid
up the registered capital of the Project Company of US$3,300,000
(approximately HK$25,740,000). Mr. Tsui was appointed as one of the four
directors of the Project Company upon its establishment.

According to the Directors, as part of the negotiations amongst the
Company, Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser relating to the bidding of and the joint
development of the Land, it was intended that Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser would
form a joint venture with the Group through WODL which is owned by
Mr. Tsui (together with his wife and sons) and Mr. Ser (together with his
daughter); WODL will own 29% equity interest in such joint venture. Hence,
it was against this background that the Shareholders’ Agreement was entered
into amongst ONFEM SPV, WODL and ODCL.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’” Agreement, KIL will transfer a 29% equity
interest in ODCL to WODL for a cash consideration of HK$2,900. As a result,
ODCL will become the Joint Venture Company owned as to 71% by the Group
and as to 29% by WODL upon completion of the Share Transfer.
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Set out below is the shareholding structure of ODCL immediately prior
to the Transaction:

June Glory

53.95%

Company

100% (Note)

ONFEM SPV

100%

ODCL

100%

Project Company

100%

e D

Note: ONFEM SPV are indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.

Set out below is the shareholding structure of ODCL immediately upon
completion of the Share Transfer:

June Glory
Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and
53.95% their respective associates
Company
100% (Note)
ONFEM SPV WODL
71% 29%

ODCL = Joint Venture Company

100%

Project Company

100%

ST

Note: ONFEM SPV are indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.
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b. Reasons for and benefits of the Transaction

In view of the demand for residential properties in the PRC (in particular,
the Company noted the property market of the PRC still sustained a growth
at the rate of 5% to 7% based on the national average property price in the
first quarter of 2006) and in order to leverage the advantage of being an
overseas listed subsidiary of China Minmetals Corporation engaged in real
estate development business, the Company has stated that it would continue
to explore opportunities (such as those projects which could not proceed due
to shortage of funds) in property market in the PRC (namely in Beijing,
Shanghai, the Pearl River Delta region and Nanjing). Taking into account the
stated business strategy of the Group, we believe the acquisition of the Land
and the property development thereon is in line with the business strategy of
the Group (as mentjoned in paragraph III. 1. above).

According to the “Letter from the Board”, Mr. Tsui has extensive
knowledge and experience in property development in the PRC and
particularly in Nanjing, where he has managed and invested with his business
partners in three residential property development projects, of which one
project has been completed and sold and the remaining two projects have
been substantially sold. Mr. Tsui has also managed and invested with his
business partners in two residential property development projects in Beijing,
of which one is currently in the selling phase and the other one is in the
planning stage.

In view of the past experience of Mr. Tsui for property development in
Nanjing, the management of the Company believes that such experience would
be beneficial to the development of the Land. Hence, we are of the view that it
is justifiable for ONFEM SPV, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, to form the Joint Venture Company with WODL, an investment
holding company controlled by Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser and their respective
associates.

As a result of the negotiations with respect to the co-operation between
Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser on the one part and the Group on the other part, ONFEM
SPV (or through its specified company or companies) has agreed to provide
the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$147,337,000 to the Joint Venture
Company. As stated in the “Letter from the Board”, the aforesaid shareholder’s
loan like other shareholders’ loans provided to the Joint Venture Company,
will be subject to an interest rate equivalent to prevailing interest rates on a
loan of similar amount, duration and terms in the PRC. In light of the
co-operation, we believe that it is justifiable for ONFEM SPV to enter into the
Shareholders” Agreement with WODL, and to agree to the transfer of 29% of
the equity interest in ODCL from KIL to WODL so as to formalise (i) the
formation of the Joint Venture Company; (ii) how the Joint Venture Company
shall be managed and operated; and (iii) the funding arrangements for the
Joint Venture Company and the Project Company.
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3. Information of the Land and the development plan of the Project Company

The Land is a piece of raw land for residential use including ancillary
commercial facilities. It is situated in Jiangning Science Park, Nanjing, the PRC (H
Hr R ZERFPEHR), and described as land no.2005G108 in the State Land Use
Rights Transfer Contract (B F & 1 {# F # &1 3% 5 [7] ) entered into between ODCL
and The Bureau of Land Resources, Jiangning Branch, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC (PRI LB M AT E + EIERILE 7 ) on 27 December 2005. The total
area of the Land is approxirnately 310,295.5 square metres with an estimated total
gross floor area of approximately 237,665.4 square metres.

According to the Directors, apart from the initial investment amount of
approximately RMB180,000,000 (approximately HK$173,077,000) which will be
financed both by internal resources and external borrowings of the Group and the
resources of WODL, the balance of the financial requirement for the development
costs for the Land will be funded by construction loans arranged by the Project
Company.

4. Estimated initial investment amount and funding arrangements of the Joint
Venture Company and the Project Company

ONFEM SPV and WODL estimate that, prior to financing from financial
institutions being arranged and made available to the Project Company, the Project
Company would require a total initial financing of approximately RMB180,000,000
(approximately HK$173,077,000) (the “Initial Financing”) to meet the full payment
of the relevant land premium and other preliminary expenses, including the
registered capital of the Project Company of US$3,300,000 (approximately
HK$25,740,000). The Initial Financing will be provided by the Joint Venture Company
by way of registered capital and shareholders’ loans.

As stated in the “Letter from the Board”, on 9 December 2005, the Company
(on behalf of ONFEM SPV) received from WODL a sum of US$957,000 (approximately
HK$7,465,000) in cash as Mr. Tsui’s and Mr. Ser’s share of the tender deposit for the
Land pursuant to the negotiations of the abovementioned non-binding letter of intent
between the Company and Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser. Upon completion of the Share
Transfer, such payment from WODL will be applied as the shareholder’s loan from
WODL to the Joint Venture Company in proportion to its equity interest in the Joint
Venture Company for the purpose of funding the registered capital of the Project
Company.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the remaining amount of the Initial
Financing of approximately RMB153,230,000 (approximately HK$147,337,000), will
be provided solely by ONFEM SPV (and/or its specified company or companies) by
way of shareholder’s loan to the Joint Venture Company.
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In sum, the following table sets out the funding arrangements of the Joint
Venture Company for the Initial Financing:

Amount

Amount contributed
contributed by ONFEM Total
by WODL SPV amount
HK$ HK$ HKS$
Registered capital 7,465,000 18,275,000 25,740,000
Shareholders’ loans - 147,337,000 147,337,000
Total 7,465,000 165,612,000 173,077,000

As part of the negotiations between the Company, Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser and
under the Shareholders” Agreement, to provide security for the repayment of the
29% of the aforementioned remaining amount of the Initial Financing (approximately
HK$42,728,000) by the Joint Venture Company to ONFEM SPV, WODL will pledge
(or will procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses, children and/or
the companies wholly-owned by one or more of the aforesaid individuals to pledge)
to ONFEM SPV certain unencumbered properties (the “Pledging Properties”), which
are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with an aggregate acceptable value of not less
than the 29% of the aforementioned remaining amount of the Initial Financing
(approximately HK$42,728,000). All of the Pledging Properties are real estate
properties in Hong Kong.

The Company has engaged RHL Appraisal Limited to assess the value of the
Pledging Properties (which comprise of 5 residential properties and 2 commercial
properties). Based on the independent valuation of the Pledging Properties conducted
by RHL Appraisal Limited on 31 March 2006, the aggregate value of the Pledging
Properties amounted to approximately HK$53,500,000.

We note that the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$42,728,000 (which is
equivalent to 29% of the remaining amount of the Initial Financing) represents
approximately 80% of the aggregate value of the Pledging Properties, which is a
higher lending ratio than any mortgage loan for residential and comunercial properties
normally granted by banks or financial institutions in Hong Kong. Given that:

(i)  the provision of the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$42,728,000
(which is equivalent to 29% of the remaining amount of the Initial
Financing) will facilitate the payment of the land premium for the Land,
and in turn, the development of the Land to proceed as scheduled;
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$147,337,000 to the Joint
Venture Company (including HK$42,728,000 which is equivalent to 29%
of the remaining amount of the Initial Financing) is expectec to be repaid
in full by 2009 when phase 1 of the development of the Land is sold as
estimated by the Project Company;

the valuation ascribes a market value to the Pledging Properties, based
on the assumption that the Pledging Properties should be exchanged on
the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller;

the Company can from time to time appoint property valuers to revalue
the Pledging Properties and any other assets pledged by WODL (or
procured to be pledged by WODL) to ONFEM SPV (the “Total Pledging
Assets”) and if the revaluation amount of the Total Pledging Assets (the
“Total Pledging Assets Revaluation”) is below the aggregate amount of
the valuation of the Total Pledging Assets at the respective time when
such properties and/or assets were pledged to ONFEM SPV (the “Total
Pledging Assets Valuation”), WODL agrees to, at the direction of
ONFEM SPV, pledge (or procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective
spouses, children and/or the companies wholly-owned by one or more
of the above individuals to pledge) to ONFEM SPV additional
unencumbered asset(s), which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with
an aggregate acceptable value of not less than the difference between
the Total Pledging Assets Valuation and the Total Pledging Assets
Revaluation; and

in the event of default of the shareholder’s loan of approximately
HK$42,728,000 (which is equivalent to 29% of the remaining amount of
the Initial Financing), the Company may enforce its security and dispose
of the Pledging Properties to realise sufficient funds to recover the
aforesaid shareholder’s loan,

we are of the view that there are sufficient safeguards to protect the interests

of the Company and the Shareholders to recover the shareholder’s loan of
approximately HK$42,728,000 (which is equivalent to 29% of the remaining
amount of the Initial Financing) in full, and thus it is fair and reasonable for
the Group to provide the aforesaid shareholder’s loan to ODCL as contemplated
under the Shareholders” Agreement.

Source of funding

The investment to be made by ONFEM SPV in the Joint Venture Company

will be funded from the Group’s internal resources and borrowings from financial
institutions. As at the Latest Practicable Date, through ONFEM SPV by way of
shareholders’ loan, the Group provided a total sum of financing of approximately
HK$143,183,000, of which approximately HK$70,000,000 was funded by bank
borrowings and approximately HK$73,183,000 was funded by internal resources of
the Group, to the Joint Venture Company.
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The Project Company shall arrange financing from financial institutions to
fund its financing needs beyond the Initial Financing. If financing from financial
institutions is insufficient or if the registered capital of the Project Company has to
be increased (in addition to the initial registered capital of US%$3,300,000
(approximately HK$25,740,000)), ONFEM SPV and WODL may provide funds to the
Joint Venture Company by way of shareholders’ loans in proportion to their respective
equity interests in the Joint Venture Company to fund the outstanding financing
needs of the Project Company from time to time (the “Further Financing”).

The Shareholders’ Agreement also provides for the possibility of the Further
Financing (except in the case of an increase in the registered capital of the Project
Company) be provided solely by ONFEM SPV by way of shareholder’s loans to the
Joint Venture Company from time to time. In such case, WODL shall pledge (or
shall procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses, children and/or the
companies wholly-owned by one or more of the aforesaid individuals to pledge) to
ONFEM SPV unencumbered asset(s) which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with
an aggregate acceptable value of not less than the share of the relevant shareholder’s
loans in proportion to the then equity interest of WODL in the Joint Venture
Company.

The shareholding structure of ODCL will be adjusted in proportion to the
contributions (including shareholders’ loans and acceptable value of assets pledged)
of ONFEM SPV and WODL in ODCL if WODL is not able to provide shareholder’s
loans or to pledge (or to procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their respective spouses,
children and/or the companies wholly-owned by one or more of the aforesaid
individuals to pledge) unencumbered asset(s) which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV
as described above.

Taking into account the fact that:

(i)  if the financing needs of the Project Company exceed the Initial
Financing, ONFEM SPV has no obligation to provide financing (i.e.
pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement). However, in the event that
ONFEM SPV chooses to do so in proportion to its equity interests in the
Joint Venture Company, WODL has to provide financing in proportion
to its equity interest in the Joint Venture Company;

(ii)  WODL shall pledge (or shall procure Mr. Tsui, Mr. Ser and/or their
respective spouses, children and/or the companies wholly-owned by
one or more of the aforesaid individuals to pledge) to ONFEM SPV
unencumbered asset(s) which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV and with
an aggregate acceptable value of not less than the share of the relevant
shareholder’s loans in proportion to the prevailing equity interest of
WODL in the Joint Venture Company if such share of the relevant
shareholders’ loans is provided by ONFEM SPV;
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(iii) the shareholding structure of ODCL will be adjusted in proportion to
the contributions (including shareholders’ loans and acceptable value of
assets pledged) of ONFEM SPV and WODL in ODCL if WODL is not
able to provide shareholders’ loan or to pledge sufficient unencumbered
asset(s) which are acceptable to ONFEM SPV; and

(iv) the abovementioned arrangement for the provision of the Further
Financing is to facilitate the development of the Land to proceed
smoothly without any disruption,

we are of the view that there are sufficient safeguards to protect the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders to provide the Further Financing, and
thus it is fair and reasonable for the Group to include a clause in the
Shareholders” Agreement to provide the Further Financing (as necessary) to
the Project Company.

6. Possible financial effects to the Group resulting from the Transaction

The possible effects to the financial position of the Group as a result of the
Transaction are as follows:

a. Net asset value

ODCL was incorporated on 10 June 1986. By means of a written resolution
of all the shareholders of ODCL, the issued share capital was subdivided into
10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each. As mentioned in paragraph III. 2. b
above, pursuant to the Shareholders” Agreement, KIL will transfer 29% equity
interest in ODCL to WODL for a cash consideration of HK$2,900.

According to the audited financial statements of ODCL as at 31 December
2005, it was in a net liability position of approximately HK$13,000. Accordingly,
the transfer of the 29% equity interest in ODCL to WODL for HK$2,900 will
give rise to a gain of approximately HK$6,670 for the Group based on the
audited net liability of ODCL as at 31 December 2005. Hence, the formation of
the Joint Venture Company has no material impact on the net assets of the
Group.

As stated in the “Letter from the Board”, the Group intends to use such
proceeds for general working capital purposes.

As described in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of the
assets and liabilities of the Group combined with the Land being acquired (set
out in Appendix II to the Circular), the formation of the Joint Venture Company
and the acquisition of the Land will have no material impact on the net asset
value of the Group.
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b. Earnings

The investment of ONFEM SPV in the Joint Venture Company (including
the financing for the Initial Financing) will be funded from the Group’s internal
resources and borrowings from financial institutions.

Assuming the Company will finance the remaining amount of Initial
Financing of approximately HK$147,337,000 by means of borrowings at the
interest rate of approximately 5.5% per annum (which is approximately the
cost of fund currently incurred by the Company), the Company will incur an
interest expense of approximately HK$8,100,000 per annum.

The aforesaid portion of Initial Financing will be provided as a
shareholders’ loan to the Joint Venture Company, and in turn, the Project
Company. Such shareholders’ loan will be provided at an interest rate which
shall be equivalent to prevailing interest rate on a loan of similar amount,
duration and terms in the PRC. Any interest expense incurred by the Project
Company will be capitalised during the course of the development of the
Land. Shareholders should note that the overall effects of the Transaction on
the future earnings of the Group will depend on, amongst other matters, the
return generated from the gross sales proceeds raised from the selling of the
subject development of the Land as well as the different growth path of the
various business operations of the Group.

c. Cash position and gearing

Based on the audited financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2005, the Group’s gearing ratio (i.e. total borrowings to total equity) was
approximately 10.5%.

Assuming the total equity remains unchanged since 31 December 2005
and the remaining amount of the Initial Financing of approximately
HK$147,337,000 is solely financed by bank borrowings, the gearing ratio of
the Group will increase to approximately 35.1%. Given that the Group’s
additional borrowing for the Transaction could be implied as backed by the
Pledging Properties and the Company’s indirect interest in the Land, we are
of the view that such gearing level is manageable and acceptable to the Group.

Pursuant to the Shareholders” Agreement, if the financing needs of the
Project Company exceed the Initial Financing, ONFEM SPV has no obligation
to provide financing. However, in the event that ONFEM SPV chooses to do
so in proportion to its equity interests in the Joint Venture Company, WODL
has to provide financing in proportion to its equity interest in the Joint Venture
Company. Accordingly, if the Company has to further borrow from financial
institutions to fund its investment in the Joint Venture Company, and assuming
the total equity remains unchanged since 31 December 2005, the gearing of
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the Group will be further increased. According to the Company, the Project
Company has already approached several banks with an intention to self
finance the entire construction loan and has received positive indication. There
is no firm commitment yet as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Based on the audited financial position of the Group as at 31 December
. 2005, the Group has cash and bank deposits (excluding pledged deposits)
amounting to approximately HK$143,347,000. Assuming the remaining amount
of the Initial Financing of approximately HK$147,337,000 is solely financed by
bank borrowings and the other subsidiaries/business of the Group can
self-finance their operation through their internal resources or banking facilities
and no major capital expenditure or financial assistance is expected to be
required from the Company, the Group will be able to preserve its cash position
for other usage in the future and we believe (on this basis) the cash position
of the Group will not be adversely affected by the Transaction.

IV. OPINION

Having considered the above factors, in particular, taking into account (i) reasons
for and benefits of the Transaction (which are in line with the Group’s strategy); (ii) the
estimated initial investment amount and funding arrangements of the Joint Venture
Company and the Project Company (which is acceptable and manageable by the Group);
(iii) there are sufficient safeguards to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders to provide the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$42,728,000 (which is
equivalent to 29% of the remaining amount of the Initial Financing) and the Further
Financing; and (iv) there will be no material adverse impact on the net assets or profitability
or cash position of the Group (apart from the fact that the gearing ratio of the Group will
increase from approximately 10.5% to approximately 35.1% assuming the remaining amount
of the Initial Financing of approximately HK$147,337,000 is solely financed by bank
borrowings, but such level is still manageable and acceptable to the Company), we are of
the view that the terms of the Transaction (i.e. the formation of the Joint Venture Company
including the provision of the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$42,728,000 (which
is equivalent to 29% of the remaining amount of the Initial Financing)) are fair and
reasonable so far as the Shareholders are concerned and are in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, we advise the Independent Board Committee
to give the same opinion to the Independent Shareholders. '

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Access Capital Limited
Jeanny Leung
Managing Director
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A, SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the consolidated financial information of the Group
for the three years ended 31 December 2003, 2004 and 2005, as extracted from the relevant
annual reports of the Company.

From 1 January 2005, all Hong Kong Statements of Standard Accounting Practice
(“HKSSAPs”) and interpretations have been withdrawn and replaced by a number of
new or revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“new HKFRSs”).

The Group prepared its financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2003 in
accordance with HKSSAPs. For the purpose of this summary, the figures as at and for the
yvear ended 31 December 2003 have not been restated. As disclosed in the 2005 annual
report of the Company set out in part B of this appendix, the Group adopted new HKFRSs
for the year ended 31 December 2005 and the 2004 comparatives have been restated as
required. These restated figures have been adopted for the purpose of this summary.

Results
Year ended 31 December
2005 2004 2003
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
(restated)
Turnover 231,322 86,605 160,941
Operating profit/(loss) 25,090 87,576 (32,334)
Finance costs (583) (1,385) (4,860)
Profit/(loss) before tax 24,507 86,191 (37,194)
Income tax 3,642 (1,082) (95)
Profit/(loss) for the year 28,149 85,109 (37,289)
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 28,149 85,109 (35,739)
Minority interests - - (1,550)
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Financial Position

As at 31 December

2005 2004 2003
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(restated)

Non-current assets 309,788 286,360 252,196

Current assets 528,647 449,093 524,806

Total assets 838,435 735,453 777,002
Capital and reserves attributable to

equity holders of the Company 600,034 561,060 474,707

Minority interest - - 30,778

Total equity 600,034 561060 505485

Non-current liabilities 7,325 7,039 6,409

Current liabilities 231,076 167,354 265,108

Total liabilities 238,401 174393 271,517

Total equity and liabilities 838,435 735,453 777,002
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B. EXTRACT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below are the audited financial statements and notes to the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005, which are the reproduction
of pages 40 to 102 of the 2005 annual report of the Company.

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(restated)
Turnover 5 231,322 86,605
Cost of sales (174,012) (42,830)
Gross profit 57,310 43,775
Other income 6 10,317 3,024
Selling and distribution costs (11,752) (12,370)
Administrative expenses (43,761) (31,411)
Other operating expenses (2,220) (2,930)
Revaluation gain on investment properties 15 15,196 23,633
Provision for properties under development - (25,000)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries - 78,707
Write-back of provision for a bank guarantee - 10,148
Operating profit 7 25,090 87,576
Finance costs 9 (583) (1,385)
Profit before tax 24,507 86,191
Income tax 10 3,642 (1,082)
Profit for the year 28,149 85,109
Attributable to: |
Equity holders of the Company 11 28,149 85,109
Earnings per share for profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company during the year
(expressed in HK cents)
- basic and diluted 12 3.65 11.02

Dividends
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(restated)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 15,346 10,173
Investment properties 15 239,899 229,890
Leasehold land and land use rights - 2,839
Goodwill 16 19,383 11,491
Available-for-sale financial assets/

Non-trading securities 18 29,340 28,440
Deferred tax assets 26 932 932
Retention receivables 21 4,539 879
Other assets 349 1,716

L2090 788 286,360
Current assets
Inventories 19 214,796 202,491
Trade and other receivables 20 161,982 83,490
Gross amounts due from customers

for contract work 21 744 1,684
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss/Trading securities 22 2,778 2,489
Pledged deposits 28 5,000 38,100
Cash and bank deposits 23 143,347 120,839

LLLo28ear 449,093
Total assets 838,435 735,453
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2005 2004
Note HK$'000 HK$000
(restated)
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
Share capital 24 77,218 77,218
Reserves 25 522,816 483,842
Total equity 600,034 561,060
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 26 105 105
Other liabilities 7,220 6,934
___________ 7325 7039
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 27 157,600 108,566
Gross amounts due to customers
for contract work 21 - 810
Current tax payable 10,382 14,847
Short-term borrowings 28 63,094 43,131
_______ 231,076 167,354
Total liabilities 238,401 174,393
Total equity and liabilities 838,435 735,453
Net current assets 297,571 281,739
Total assets less current liabilities 607,359 568,099
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2005

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Other assets

Current assets
Other receivables
Pledged deposits
Cash and bank deposits

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities
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2005 2004
Note HKS$'000 HK$’000
17 547,582 496,309
- 1,312
_.o47ee | 49762d
20 1,002 1,052
28 5,000 9,500
23 49,976 75,457
_________ 55,978 86,009

603,560 583,63
24 77,218 77,218
25 505,027 503,682
L..582285 580,900
27 21,315 2,730
_________ 21815 2730
603,560 583,630
34,663 83,279
582,245 580,900
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
HK$000 HK$'000
Balance at 1 January,
as previously reported as equity 561,165 474,707
Reclassification of minority interest as part of equity
(see Note 2(a)) - 25,033
Deferred tax arising from the revaluation of
investment properties on the adoption of
HK(SIC)-Int 21 (see Note 2(a)) (105) -
Balance at 1 January,
as restated before opening adjustment 561,060 499,740
Opening adjustment on derecognition of
negative goodwill on the adoption of HKFRS 3
(see Note 2(a)) 7,467 -
Balance at 1 January,
asrestated 268,527 .. 499,740
Revaluation surplus of available-for-sale
financial assets 900 -
Currency translation adjustments 2,458 2,247
Release of reserve upon liquidation of a subsidiary - (1,003)
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary - (25,033)
Net increase/(decrease) in equity before
profit for the year 3358 (23,789)
Profit for the year,
attributable to equity holders of the Company 28,149 85,109
Balance at 31 December 600,034 561,060
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Note

Operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 30
Interest paid
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of leasehold land
and land use rights
Dividends received
Interest received
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing
activities

Financing activities
New borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing
activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 23
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2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
(restated)
1,182 (28,554)
{(6,837) (3,095)
(823) (977)
_________ (6,478) (32,626)
(3,993) (3,606)
7,426 480
2,839 -
393 449
2,358 2,383
- (12,088)
- 4,548
- (413)
0 (8,247)
61,991 2,152
(41,973) (3,845)
_________ 20018 (1L693)
22,563 (42,566)
119,681 162,247
142,244 119,681
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Organisation and operations

ONFEM Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Group”) is principally
engaged in real estate development, property leasing, specialised construction, manufacturing and
trading, and securities investment and trading businesses. The Group’s businesses participate in two
principal economic environments. Hong Kong and Macau, and the People’s Republic of China (other
than Hong Kong and Macau) (“PRC”) are the major markets for all the Group’s businesses, with a small
portion of its income derived from other countries.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and an investment holding
company. The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) .

The financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000),
unless otherwise stated. The financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors
of the Company on 13 April 2006.

2. Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”). The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment properties,
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which
are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

The adoption of new/revised HKFRS
In 2005, the Group adopted the new/revised standards and interpretations of HKFRS

below, which are relevant to its operations. The 2004 comparatives have been amended as
required, in accordance with the relevant requirements and current year classification.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 2 Inventories

HKAS 7 Cash Flow Statements

HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
HKAS 10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

HKAS 11 Construction Contracts

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

HKAS 14 Segment Reporting

HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

HKAS 17 Leases

HKAS 18 Revenue

HKAS 19 Employee Benefits

HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs
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HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and Presentation

HKAS 33 Earnings Per Share

HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets

HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

HKAS 40 Investment Property

HK-Int ¢4 Leases — Determination of the Length of Lease Term in respect of
Hong Kong Land Leases

HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives

HK(SIC)-Int 21 Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets

HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transaction Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease

HKERS 2 Share-based Payments

HKERS 3 Business Combinations

(i) The adoption of new/revised HKASs 1, 2, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 23, 24,

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

27, 33, 37, HK-Int 4, HK(SIC)-Ints 15 and 27 did not result in substantial changes
to the Group’s accounting policies. In summary:

- HKAS 1 has affected the presentation of minority interest and other
disclosures.

- HKAS 24 has affected the identification of related parties and some other
related-party disclosures.

- HKASs 2, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 23, 27, 33, 37, HK-Int 4, HK
(SIC)-Ints 15 and 27 have no material effect on the Group’s accounting
policies.

The adoption of revised HKAS 17 has resulted in a change in the accounting
policy relating to the reclassification of leasehold land and land use rights under
operating leases from property, plant and equipment. The up-front prepayments
made for the leasehold land and land use rights are expensed in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease or when there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the income statement. If the lease
payment for a lease of land and building cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is classified as a finance lease and the
leasehold land and building is stated collectively at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment. In prior years, the leasehold land was
accounted for at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

The adoption of HKASs 32 and 39 has resulted in a change in the accounting
policy relating to the classification of trading and non-trading securities into
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
assets.

The adoption of revised HKAS 40 has resulted in a change in the accounting
policy whereby the changes in fair value of investment properties are recorded in
the income statement. In prior years, the increases in fair value were credited to
the investment properties revaluation reserve while decreases in fair value were
first set off against increases on earlier valuations on a portfolio basis and thereafter
expensed in the income statement.
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(v)

(v1)

(vii)

The adoption of revised HK(SIC)-Int 21 has resulted in a change in the accounting
policy relating to the measurement of deferred tax liabilities arising from the
revaluation of investment properties. Such deferred tax liabilities are measured
on the basis of tax consequences that would follow from recovery of the carrying
amount of that asset through use. In prior years, the basis of measurement was to
assume that the carrying amount of that asset was expected to be recovered through
sale.

The adoption of HKFRS 2 has resulted in a change in the accounting policy for
share-based payments. Until 31 December 2004, the provision of share options to
employees did not result in an expense in the income statement. Effective 1 January
2005, the Group expenses the cost of share options in the income statement. There
is no impact on the prior year financial statements as the Group had no unvested
share options outstanding as at 1 January 2005.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 and HKAS 36 has resulted in a change in the accounting
policy for goodwill. Until 31 December 2004,

- Goodwill was amortised on a straight-line basis over a period ranging
from 5 to 15 years and assessed for an indication of impairment at each
balance sheet date.

- Negative goodwill was amortised over the weighted average useful life of
the depreciable/amortisable non-monetary assets acquired, except to the
extent it related to identified expected future losses as at the date of
acquisition. In such cases, it was recognised in the income statement as
those expected losses were incurred.

In accordance with the provisions of HKFRS 3:

- For previously recognised goodwill, the Group ceased amortisation from 1
January 2005 and the accumulated amortisation as at 31 December 2004
has been eliminated with a corresponding decrease in the cost of goodwill.
From the year ended 31 December 2005 onwards, goodwill is tested
annually for impairment, as well as when there is an indication of
impairment.

- For previously recognised negative goodwill, the carrying amount of
negative goodwill at 1 January 2005 was derecognised, with a

corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.

All changes in the accounting policies have been made in accordance with the

transitional provisions in the respective standards. All standards adopted by the Group

require retrospective application other than:

- HKAS 39 - does not permit to recognise, derecognise and measure financial
assets and liabilities in accordance with this standard on a retrospective
basis;

- HKAS 40 - since the Group has adopted the fair value model and disclosed
publicly the fair value of the investment properties, the Group is
encouraged, but not required, to adjust the opening balance of retained
earnings for the earliest period presented for which such fair value was
disclosed publicly, and to restate comparative information for those
periods. The Group has chosen to restate the 2004 comparatives;

- HKFRS 2 - only retrospective application for all equity instruments granted
after 7 November 2002 and not vested at 1 January 2005; and

- HKFRS 3 - applied prospectively after the adoption date, with any
adjustment made to the retained earnings as at 1 January 2005.
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The Group has not early adopted the following new standards or interpretations
of HKFRS that have been issued but not yet effective. The adoption of such standards or
interpretations will not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

HKAS 1 (Amendment): Capital Disclosures

HKAS 19 (Amendment): Employee Benefits - Actuarial Gains and Losses,
Group Plans and Disclosure

HKAS 21 (Amendment): The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates —
Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

HKFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HK({IFRIC)-Int 4: Determining Whether an Arrangernent Contains a
Lease

(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company
and all its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement (see Note 2(j)).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

() Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in

HK dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as
qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments held
at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as
available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the revaluation reserve in equity.

(iii)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the

currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from

the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component
of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(e) Revenue recognition
(i) Sales of completed properties

Sales of completed properties is recognised when title to the properties has passed
to the purchaser.

(ii) Operating lease rental income

Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
period.

(iii) Contract revenue

The accounting policy for contract revenue recognition is set out in Note 2(0).
(iv) Sales of goods

Sales of goods is recognised upon the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and
title has passed.

(v) Sales of securities investments

The accounting policy for sales of securities investments is set out in Note 2(}).
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(vi) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
(vii)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans is recognised either as cash is collected or on a cost-
recovery basis as conditions warrant.

(f) Leases
(i) Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are expensed in the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ii) Finance lease

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance cutstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in current and non-
current borrowings. The interest element of the finance cost is recognised in the income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

(g) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or completed.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which they
are incurred.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate cost over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2% = 5%

Leasehold improvements Over the remaining period of the lease
Plant and machinery 5% - 25%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15% - 25%

Motor vehicles 20% ~ 30%

The assets” useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet
date.

The asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2(k}).

(i) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and
that is not occupied by the companies in the consolidated Group, is classified as investment

property.
Investment property comprises land held under operating leases and buildings.

Investment property is measured initially at its costs, including related transaction costs.
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These
valuations are performed in accordance with the guidance issued by the International Valuation
Standards Committee. These valuations are reviewed annually by external valuers. Investment
property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property, or for which the
market has become less active, continues to be measured at fair value.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from
current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current
market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could
be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the
income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant
and equipment, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting
purposes. Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property
is classified as property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until construction or development
is complete, at which time it is reclassified and accounted for as investment property.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its
use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this
item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and
equipment under HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss,
the gain is recognised in the income statement.

— 44—




' APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

G) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Gain or loss on the disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating
to the entity sold.

(k) Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

[4)] Investments in securities

The Group classifies its investments in securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at every reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be
realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(7i) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-
currerit assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months
of the balance sheet date.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising
from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category
are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value of non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale are recognised in equity. When securities classified as available-for-sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement
as gains or losses from securities investment. The fair values of quoted investments are based on
current bid prices.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified
as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its
cost is considered in determining whether the securities are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
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between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in the income statement — is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments
are not reversed through the income statement.

(m) Inventories
(i) Manufacturing and trading

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

(ii) Properties under development

Properties under development represent interests in land and buildings under
construction.

The cost of acquiring land held under operating leases is amortised on a straight
line basis over the lease term. If the property is in the course of development or re-
development the amortisation charge is included as part of the costs of the property
under development. In all other cases the amortisation charge for the period is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Properties under development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises original land acquisition costs, costs of land use rights, construction
expenditures incurred, other direct development costs attributable to such properties,
including borrowing costs capitalised (see Note 2(g)), and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is the anticipated sales proceeds estimated by the directors
based on prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis, less estimated costs
to completion and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

(n) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest
rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

(0) Construction contracts in progress

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue
is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.
Contract costs are recognised when incurred.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue
and contract costs are recognised over the period of the contract, respectively, as revenues and
expenses. The Group uses the percentage of completion method to determine the appropriate
amount of revenues and costs to be recognised in a given period, and the stage of completion is
measured by reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred to date to total estimated
contract costs for the contract. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profit or loss recognised on each contract is
compared against the progress billings up to the year end. Where costs incurred and recognised
profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is shown as gross amounts
due from customers for contract work, under current assets. Where progress billings exceed
costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is shown as gross
amounts due to customers for contract work, under current liabilities.

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts. ’

(q) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
(1) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

(s) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity leaves are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various pension schemes. The schemes are
generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.
The Group has defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a
cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(iii) ~ Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options
are exercised.
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(iv) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to
present value.

) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,
they will then be recognised as a provision.

(v) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(w) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with changes in
presentation in the current year.
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3. Financial risk factors and management

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange, credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arising in its
ordinary course of business. These risks are managed by the Group’s financial management polices and
practices as described below to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group invests substantially in the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk with
respect to Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The expected
appreciation of RMB will benefit the Group as a whole.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and it has
no significant concentration of credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.

(c) Liquidity risk

Pruderit liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

(d) Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the Group’s income and operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises from borrowings which bear variable rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Considering all the Group’s borrowings are short-term, repayable within one
year, and the interest rate risk is not significant, the Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

(a) Investment properties

CB Richard Ellis Limited were engaged to carry out an independent valuation of the
Group’s investment property portfolio as at 31 December 2005. This valuation was carried out in
accordance with the Valuation Standards on Properties of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
which defines market value as “the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without
compulsion”. The values of the Group’s investment properties were derived by making reference
to comparable sales evidences as available in the markets.

(b) Goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(k). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 16).
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(c) Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as available-for-
sale financial assets) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables
are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

(d) Construction contracts in progress

As explained in the accounting policy stated in Note 2(o0), revenue and profit recognition
on an uncompleted project is dependent on estimating the total outcome of the construction
contract, as well as the work done to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and nature of
the construction activities undertaken by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point at
which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete and revenue
can be reliably estimated. As a result, until this point is reached the amounts due from customers
for contract work as disclosed in Note 21 will not include profit which the Group may eventually
realise from the work done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the balance sheet date, which would affect the revenue
and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(e) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

5. Turnover and segment information
(a) Primary reporting format — business segments

In accordance with its internal financial reporting the Group has determined that business
segments should be presented as the primary reporting format. In order to better align with the
Group’s business development, the grouping of different businesses under each business segment
has been changed with prior year segment information reclassified for comparative purposes. As
at 31 December 2005, the Group has categorised its businesses into the following segments:

Real estate development: Development of residential and commercial
properties, as well as provision of construction
project management services.

Specialised construction: Design, installation and selling of curtain walls
and aluminium windows, doors and fire-proof
materials.

Property leasing: Leasing of premises to generate rental income

and to gain from the appreciation in the
properties’ values in the long term.

Manufacturing and trading: Manufacturing and trading of lubricant oil and
chemical products.

Securities investment and trading: Trading and investment of securities.
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Turnover during the year comprised the following:

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue from provision of construction project
management services 14,995 7,609
Revenue from specialised construction contracts 144,075 15,447
Gross rental and management fee income
from investment properties 12,078 10,620
Sales of lubricant oil and chemical products 59,781 52,480
Dividend income from securities investment 393 449
231,322 86,605
Segment revenue and result
Securities
Real estate Specialised Manufacturing investment
development construction Property leasing and trading and trading Total

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'060 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 14,965 7609 144,075 15447 12,078 10,620 59,781 52,480 393 419 231,322 86,605
Result
Segment result 12,629 (13,374) 8,110 (7.338) 24832 31259 2,726 835 616 708 48913 12,090

Gain on deconsolidation

of subsidiaries - 78707
Write-back of provision
for a bank guarantee - 10,148
Unallocated costs (23,823) (13,369)
Operating profit 25,090 87,576
Finarnce costs (583)  (1,385)
Income tax 3,642 (1,082)
Profit for the year 28,149 85,109
N SR

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses and losses net of corporate income and
gains.

Segment assets and liabilities

Securities
Real estate Specialised Manufacturing investment
development construction Property leasing and trading and trading Total

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'030 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00D HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000

Assets

Segment assets 350,839 253,817 128,637 74,969 249,954 236,058 23,855 22,722 32,127 31,177 785,462 618,743

Unallocated corporate assets 52,973 116,710

Total assets 838,435 735,453
S SR

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 43,640 35724 88530 49,954 4,890 5,017 5,595 5,106 - - 142,655 95,801

Unallocated corporate liabilities 95,746 78,592

Total liabilities 238,401 174,393
S S
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Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
goodwill, available-for-sale financial assets, inventories, receivables and operating cash. Segment
liabilities comprise all operating liabilities.

Other segment information

Securities
Real estate Specialised Manufacturing investment
development construction Property leasing and trading and trading

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

Capital expenditure 537 177 1,985 20 737 29 548 916 - -
Depreciation 238 221 467 155 17 73 942 1,728 - 1
Amortisation of land lease

premium - - - 113 - - - - - -
Revaluation gain on

investment properties - - - - 1519 23,633 - - - -
Provision for properties

under development - 25,000 - - - - - - - -
Impairment loss recognised

in the income statement - - - 88 - - - 1,798 - -
Other non-cash

expenses/ {income) - - - 997 - 567 (590) 386 (289) (347)

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 14).
(b) Secondary reporting format — geographical segments
The Group’s business segments operate in two main geographical areas:

Hong Kong and Macau: Specialised construction, property leasing, manufacturing
and trading, and securities investment and trading

The PRC: Real estate development, specialised construction, property
leasing, and manufacturing and trading

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, sales are presented
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Segment assets and capital expenditure
are presented based on the geographical locations of the assets.

Hong Kong and
Macau The PRC Other countries Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS000

External sales 24,549 16,483 206,378 69,765 395 357 231,322 86,605
Segment assets 297,031 291,152 488,431 327,578 - 13 785462 618,743
Capital expenditure 1,118 2,645 2,875 961 - - 3,993 3,606
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7.

Other income

Interest income from bank deposits

Interest income from loans to a deconsolidated subsidiary

Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss/trading securities

Investment income (excluding dividend income)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Others

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000
2,358 2,276

- 107

289 347
2,647 2,730
6,215 294
1,455 -
10,317 3,024

The investment income (including dividend income) from listed and unlisted investments for
the year ended 31 December 2005 were HK$682,000 (2004: HK$796,000) and HK$2,358,000 (2004:
HK$2,383,000) respectively.

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

Gross rental and management fee income from investment properties

Less: outgoings

Depreciation
Less: depreciation capitalised into properties under development

Amortisation of land lease premium
Less: amortisation capitalised into properties under development

Operating lease charges — minimum lease payment in respect of
land and buildings
Less: amount capitalised inte properties under development

Cost of inventories sold

Auditors’ remuneration

Net foreign exchange gain
Impairment loss of other assets
Employee benefit expense (Note 8)

Other operating expenses arising from investment properties
that did not generate rental income

Provision/(write-back of provision) for inventory obsolescence

Write-back of provision for impairment of receivables (a)
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2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
(12,078) (10,620)
2,150 2,185
....... ©.928) . (8435
2,929 3,220
(193) (204)
........ 2,756 .. 3016
1,822 9,873
(1,822) (9,760)
_____________ N =
4,441 3,894
(324) (260)
........ 4173634
33,586 27,245
1,620 1,660
(1,533) (1,129)
1,312 -
34,562 35,233
70 745
398 (636)
(5,300) (9,295)
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(@) An amount of approximately HK$1,585,000 (2004: HK$3,603,000), being the write-back of
the provision for a loan to China Nonferrous Metals Group (Hong Kong) Limited
("CNMG”), a former intermediate holding company of the Company, is included in the
write-back of provision for impairment of receivables. The said amount was received
during the year from the liquidators of CNMG as interim dividends to the unsecured

creditors of CNMG.

Employee benefit expense

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
Wages and salaries 33,950 34,248
Provision for unutilised annual leave 41 20
Write-back of provision for long service payment - (86)
Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Note 29) 571 1,051
34,562 35,233

(a) Directors” emoluments

The remuneration of each director of the Company (“Director”, collectively “Directors”)

for the year ended 31 December 2005 is set out below:

Salaries, Employer’s

allowances contributions

and benefits Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees in kind bonuses scheme Total
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mr. Lin Xizhong - - - - -
Mr. Wang Xingdong ~ 2,136 - - 2,136
Mr. Yan Xichuan - 1,300 - 60 1,360
Mr. Qian Wenchao - - - - -
Ms. He Xiaoli - 1,040 15 - 1,055
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel 300 - - - 300
Mr. Selwyn Mar 310 - - - 310
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria 300 - - - 300
910 4,476 15 60 5,461

The remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2004 is set out below:

Salaries, Employer’s

allowances contributions

and benefits Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees in kind bonuses scheme Total
HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mr. Lin Xizhong - - - - -
Mr. Wang Xingdong - 2,136 82 - 2,218
Mr. Yan Xichuan - 1,300 50 60 1,410
Mr. Qian Wenchao - - - - -
Ms. He Xiaoli - 1,040 46 - 1,086
Mr. Lam Chun, Daniel 300 - - - 300
Mr. Selwyn Mar 310 - - - 310
Ms. Tam Wai Chu, Maria 300 - - - 300
910 4,476 178 60 5,624
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During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors as an inducement
to join or as compensation for loss of office (2004: Nil) and no Directors have waived their
emoluments in respect of their services to the Group for the year (2004: Nil).

(b) Five highest-paid individuals

The five highest-paid individuals in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005
included three (2004: three) Executive Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in (a) above.
Details of the emoluments of the remaining two (2004: two) individuals during the year are as

follows:

2005 2004
HK§'060 HK§'000
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,587 2,224
Bonuses 149 35
Employer’s contributions to pension scheme 219 198
2,925 2,457

The emoluments fell within the following bands:
2005 2004
Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 - -

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000

2 2

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals as an
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office (2004: Nil).

9. Finance costs
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Bank loans and overdrafts
Wholly repayable within five years 2,000 2,773
Other loans
Wholly repayable within five years 4,837 316
Finance leases - 6
6,837 3,095
Less: borrowing costs capitalised into properties under
development (a) (6,254) (1,710)
583 1,385
@) Borrowing costs were capitalised at a rate ranging from 5.58% to 5.74% (2004: 5.31% to

5.58%) per annum.
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10. Income tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no estimated assessable
profit for the year (2004: Nil). Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Current tax - Hong Kong
Over-provision in respect of prior years | (3,675 - -
Current tax — Overseas
Provision for the year 653 977
Over-provision in respect of prior years (620) -
S R 77
Deferred tax
Origination of temporary differences o - 105
(3,642) 1,082

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$°000
Profit before tax 24,507 86,191
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits
in the respective countries 4,351 15,841
Over-provision of income tax in respect of prior years (4,295) -
Income not subject to tax (5,367) (22,587)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,898 7,322
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (1,229) -
Unrecognised tax losses - 506
Income tax {credit)/charges (3,642) 1,082

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17.8% (2004: 18.4%). The decrease is caused by a
change in the profitability of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries.

11. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

Consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the Company includes a profit of
approximately HK$1,345,000 (2004: HK$21,278,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements
of the Company.
12. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$28,149,000 (2004: HK$85,109,000) by the weighted average

number of 772,181,783 ordinary shares (2004: 772,181,783 ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

There were no dilutive potential shares in existence during the year.
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13. Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December

2005 (2004: Nil).

14.

Property, plant and equipment

(a)

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Group
Furniture,
Leasehold  Leasehold fixtures
land and  improve-  Plantand and Motor
buildings ments machinery equipment vehicles Total
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2004
Cost 4,574 9,334 10,956 11,311 5,856 42,031
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (1,604) (8,108) (8,530) (9,788) (4,782) (32,812)
Net book amount 2,970 1,226 2,426 1,523 1,074 9,219
Year ended 31 December 2004
Opening net book amount 2,970 1,226 2,426 1,523 1,074 9,219
Exchange differences - - - 3 5 8
Additions - 2,273 157 637 539 3,606
Transfer from investment
properties 253 - - - - 253
Transfer between categories - ~ (227) 227 - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 88 - 88
Write-back of provision/
(provision) for impairment
loss 493 - - (88) - 405
Disposals - - {61) (73) (52) (186)
Depreciation (62) (1,533) (510) (506) (609) (3,220)
Closing net book amount 3,654 1,966 1,785 1,811 957 10,173
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Group
Furniture,
Leasehold  Leasehold fixtures
land and  improve-  Plant and and Motor
buildings ments machinery equipment vehicles Total

HK$'000 HK$000 HK3'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

At 31 December 2004

Cost 4,827 9,355 7,585 5,476 4,767 32,010
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (1173) (7,389) (5,800) (3,665) (3,810) (21,837)
Net book amount 3,654 1,966 1,785 1,811 957 10,173

Year ended 31 December 2005

Opening net book amount 3,654 1,966 1,785 1,811 957 10,173
Exchange differences - 3 114 10 6 133
Transfer from investment

properties 5,187 - - - - 5,187
Additions - 759 882 1,448 904 3,993
Disposals - 8) (739) (460) 4) (1,211)
Depreciation (88) (1,372) (457) (588) (424) (2,929)
Closing net book amount 8,753 1,348 1,585 2,221 1,439 15,346

At 31 December 2005

Cost 10,014 10,040 4,908 5,814 5,677 36,453
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (1,261) (8,692) (3,323) (3,593) (4,238) (21,107)
Net book amount 8,753 1,348 1,585 2,221 1,439 15,346
(b) The carrying amounts of leasehold land and buildings are analysed as follows:
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000

In Hong Kong, held on:
Long-term leases (over 50 years) 8,753 1,873

In the PRC, held on:
Long-term leases (over 50 years) - 1,781

8,753 3,654

Leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of approximately HK$8,753,000
(2004: Nil) have been pledged as securities for bank borrowings (Note 28(a)).
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15. Investment properties
Group

2005 2004

HK$°000 HK$'000

Balance at 1 January 229,890 206,510
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (5,187) (253)
Revaluation gain 15,196 23,633
Balance at 31 December 239,899 229,890

The investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2005 by CB Richard Ellis Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers. Valuations were based on current prices in an active market

for all properties.

The Group’s interests in investment properties at their net book values are analysed as follows:

2005 2004
HKS$'000 HK$'000
In Hong Kong, held on:
Long-term leases (over 50 years) 236,299 228,100
In the PRC, held on:
Long-term leases (over 50 years) 3,600 1,790

Investment properties with carrying amounts of approximately HK$236,299,000 (2004:
HK$215,000,000) have been pledged as securities for bank borrowings (Note 28(a)).
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16. Goodwill

(a) Goodwill and negative goodwill arising from acquisitions are as follows:
Group
Negative
Goodwill Goodwill Net
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK¢$’000

At 1 January 2004
Cost and net book amount - - _

Year ended 31 December 2004
Opening net book amount - - -

Additions 20,275 (12,738) 7,537
Amortisation (1,317) 5,271 3,954
Closing net book amount 18,958 (7,467) 11,491

At 31 December 2004

Cost 20,275 (12,738) 7,537
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (1,317) 5,271 3,954
Net book amount 18,958 (7,467) 11,491

Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount,

as previously reported 18,958 (7,467) 11,491
Opening adjustment on derecognision

of negative goodwill (see Note 2(a)) - 7,467 7,467
Opening net book amount, as restated 18,958 - 18,958
Exchange differences 425 - 425
Closing net book amount 19,383 - 19,383

At 31 December 2005
Cost 19,383 - 19,383

Accumulated amortisation and impairment - - -

Net book amount ‘ 19,383 - 19,383

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU") identified according
to business segment as follows:

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Specialised construction 19,383 18,958

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a three-year period.
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The sale growth rate and discount rate used for value-in-use calculations are 5.00% and
5.58% respectively.

Management determined the sale growth rate based on past performance and its
expectation for market development. The discount rate used is the cost of borrowings of the

CGU.
17. Investments in subsidiaries
Company

2005 2004
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Unlisted share investments, at cost 695,295 695,296
Less: provision for impairment in value (695,295) (695,296)
Loans to subsidiaries (a) 51,423 51,928
Less: provision for loans to subsidiaries (47,800) (47,800)
........ 3623 4128
Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) 1,032,171 1,003,855
Less: provision for amounts due from subsidiaries (488,212) (511,674)
43959 492181
547,582 496,309

(a)

(b)

(c)

Included in the loans to subsidiaries are loans to subsidiaries of approximately
HK$47,800,000 (2004: HK$47,800,000) which are non-interest bearing. The remaining
balances bear interest at commercial lending rates. All balances are unsecured and

repayable on demand.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2005:

Place of
incorporation/
Name of subsidiary operations

Best Pear|l Development  Hong Kong
Limited

Brena Company Limited Hong Kong

Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong

Dongguan Bridgman PRC
Fire Doors Limited (ii)

-6l -

Percentage of equity

Particulars Directly Indirectly
of issued/ held by  held by
registered and the the

paid up capital (i) Company Company Principal activities

1,000 shares of - 100 Property investment
HK$1 each

500,000 shares of - 100 Provision of

HK$1 each management

services

10,000 shares of - 100 Property investment
HK$1 each

RMB12,062,711 - 100 Manufacturing of

fire proof doors
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Name of subsidiary

Eastrend (Hong Kong)
Limited

Enful Engineering
Limited

Enful Holdings Limited

Full Pacific Limited

Geraldine Profits Limited

Great Way Properties
Limited

Jaeger Development
Limited

Jaeger Oil & Chemical
Company Limited

Jaeger QOil & Chemical
Holdings Limited

Linkcheer Limited

ONFEM Company
Limited

ONFEM Finance

Limited

ONFEM Investments
Limited

Place of
incorporation/
operations

Hong Kong

Hong Kong/
Hong Kong
and PRC

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong
and PRC

Hong Kong

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

Hong Kong/
PRC

British Virgin
Islands

Hong Kong

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong
and PRC

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

British Virgin

Islands/
Hong Kong
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Percentage of equity
Directly Indirectly
held by  held by

the the
paid up capital () Company Company

Particulars
of issued/
registered and

2 shares of HK$1 - 100

each
100 shares of HK$1 - 100
each and 500,000
non-voting
deferred
shares of HK$1
each
10,000 shares of - 100
USS1 each and
4 non-voting
deferred shares
of US$1 each
2 shares of HK$1 - 100
each

1 share of US$1 - 100

2 shares of HK$1 - 100

each

1 share of US$1 - 100

10 shares of - 100
HK$100 each and
20,000 non-voting
deferred shares of
HK$100 each
100 shares of US$1 - 100

each

2 shares of HK$1 - 100

each
2 shares of HK$1 - 100
each
1,000 shares of 100 -
US$1 each

100 shares of 100 -

US$10 each

Principal activities

Property investment

Selling and
installation of fire
proof materials and
products

Investment holding

Property investment

Securities trading

Property investment

Investment holding

Manufacturing and
trading of lubricant
oil and chemical
products

Investment holding

Property investment

Investment holding

Provision of
financing for other
Group companies

Investment holding
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(d)

Percentage of equity

Particulars Directly Indirectly
Place of of issued/ held by  held by
incorporation/  registered and the the
Name of subsidiary operations paid up capital (i) Company Company Principal activities
Oriental Dragon Hong Kong/ 10,000 shares of - 100 Investment holding
Construction Hong Kong HK$1 each
Limited and PRC
Shanghai Jin Qiao PRC US$2,040,000 - 100 Design and
Condo Decoration installation of
Engineering Company curtain walls and
Limited (iii) aluminium windows
Tinnex Management Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 - 100 Property
Limited each management
Top Gain Properties Hong Kong/ 2 shares of HK$1 - 100 Property investment
Limited PRC each
Virtyre Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HKS10 - 100 Property investment
each
Wilson Murray Far East  Hong Kong 100 shares of - 100 Provision of
Limited HK$10 each construction project
management
services
Zhuhai (Oriental) Blue ~ PRC RMB44,000,000 - 100 Property
Horrison Properties development

Company Limited (iv)

(i) .

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. None of the
subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the year ended 31
December 2005.

Dongguan Bridgman Fire Doors Limited (“Dongguan Bridgman”) is a Sino-foreign
equity joint venture established in the PRC with an initial operating period of 12
years up to 2005 and further extending to 2017, of which Bridgman Fire Doors
(H.X.) Limited (“Bridgman HK"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is
a joint venture partner. Pursuant to the terms as stipulated in the joint venture
agreement, the Chinese joint venture partner is entitled to a fixed annual
guaranteed distribution of RMB60,000 while Bridgman HK is entitled to share all
the profit/loss of Dongguan Bridgman after deducting the distribution to the
Chinese joint venture partner.

Shanghai Jin Qiao Condo Decoration Engineering Company Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, is a foreign investment enterprise established
in the PRC with an operating period of 15 years up to 2008.

Zhuhai (Oriental) Blue Horrison Properties Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is a foreign investment enterprise established in the
PRC with an operating period of 8 years up to 2007.

The Company has undertaken to provide continuing support to finance the future
operations of certain subsidiaries.
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18.

19.

Available-for-sale financial assets/non-trading securities

Group
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Balance at 1 January 28,440 28,440
Revaluation surplus transferred to equity (Note 25) 900 -
Balance at 31 December 29,340 28,440
Available-for-sale financial assets/non-trading securities include the following:
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Equity securities:
Listed in Hong Kong, at fair value ....29,340 28,440
Unlisted, at cost 243,600 243,600
Less: provision for impairment in value (243,600) (243,600)
29,340 28,440
Inventories
Group
2005 2004
HK$'000 HKS$'000
Manufacturing and trading stocks
Raw materials 5,129 5,603
Work in progress - 196
Finished goods 3,723 3,542
8,852 9,341
Less: provision for inventory obsolescence (2,759) (2,361)
Manufacturing and trading stocks, net 6,093 6,980
Properties under development — located in the PRC 244,979 231,787
Less: provision for net realisable value (36,276) (36,276)
Properties under development, net@ 208,703 195,511
214,796 202,491
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(a) Properties under development

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$°000
Land use right 77,342 79,164
Construction in progress 131,361 116,347
208,703 195,511
20. Trade and other receivables
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$’'000 HK$'000
Trade and contract receivables, net (a) 83,170 31,672 - -
Retention receivables (Note 21) 7,039 15,023 - -
Deposits 52,242 25,374 650 652
Prepayments 876 910 324 387
Others 18,655 10,511 28 13
161,982 83,490 1,002 1,052
(a) Trade and contract receivables, net
The aging analysis of trade and contract receivables is as follows:
Group

2005 2004
HKS$'000 HK$'000
0 - 30 days 40,924 9,194
31 - 60 days 16,710 5,340
61 - 90 days 6,893 3,247
Qver 90 days 34,027 33,148
98,559 50,929
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (15,389) (19,257)
83,170 31,672

For trade receivables, the normal credit period granted by the Group to the customers is
from 30 days to 60 days from the date of invoice. The credit period for contract receivables

varies in accordance with the terms of contracts.
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The carrying amounts of trade and contract receivables are denominated in the following

currencies:

Hong Kong dollar
RMB
United States dollar

21. Construction contracts in progress

Contract costs incurred plus attributable profits less

foreseeable losses to date
Less: progress billings to date

Included in current assets/(liabilities) under the following captions:

Gross amounts due from customers for contract work

Gross amounts due to customers for contract work

Group
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
13,135 11,591
40,253 9,952
29,782 10,129
83,170 31,672
Group
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$000
112,699 20,773
(111,955) (19,899)
744 874
744 1,684
- (810)
744 874

As at 31 December 2005, retentions held by customers for contract work included in non-current
retention receivables of the Group and trade and other receivables of the Group under Note 20 amounted
to approximately HK$4,539,000 (2004: HK$879,000) and HK$7,039,000 (2004: HK$15,023,000), respectively.

22. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss/trading securities

At fair value:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

23, Cash and cash equivalents

Deposits with banks
Cash on hand

Cash and bank deposits (a)
Bank overdraft (Note 28)

Group

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,778 2,489

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
143,299 120,703 49,976 75,457
48 136 - -
143,347 120,839 49,976 75,457
(1,103) (1,158) - -
142,244 119,681 49,976 75,457
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(a) The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are denominated in the following
currericies:
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong dollar 25,900 67,459 5,569 39,511
RMB 72,970 17,355 - -
United States dollar ’ 44,433 36,025 44,407 35,946
Other currencies 44 - - -
143,347 120,839 49,976 75,457
24. Share capital
2005 2004
No. of No. of
Shares Amount Shares Amount
(’000) HK$’'000 ('000) HKS$'000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 772,182 77,218 772,182 77,218

(a) Share options

On 29 May 2003, the Company adopted a share option scheme under which the Directors
may, at their discretion, invite any person who has contributed or will contribute to the Group
to take up options at a nominal consideration of HK$10 for each lot of share options granted.

(i) Share options were granted on 15 March 2004 under the share option scheme and
are exercisable during a three-year period commencing on the date of acceptance

of the share options by each respective Director or employee, and shall expire at
the end of the three-year period. As at 31 December 2005, the details of the share
options granted and outstanding are as follows:

Category of
participant

Directors

Employees

Exercise period of
share options

16 March 2004 to
15 March 2007

17 March 2004 to
26 April 2007
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Exercise

price
HK$

0.83

0.83

Number of
share options
("000)

12,000

8,100

20,100
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(ii) Movements in the number of share options outstanding of the above share options
granted are as follows:

2005 2004
Number of Number of
share options share aptions
('000) ('000)
Balance at 1 January 20,900 -
Granted - 21,100
Lapsed (800) (200)
Balance at 31 December 20,100 20,900
25. Reserves
(@) Group
Available-
for-sale
financial
Con- Capital assets Ace-
Share tributed redemption revaluation  Exchange  umulated
premium  surplus (c) reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Balance at 1 January 2004 409,738 601,415 769 11,520 (1,601) (624,352) 397,489
Currency translation
adjustments - - - - 2,247 - 2,247
Release of reserve upon
liquidation of a subsidiary - (1,003) - - - - (1,003)
Profit for the year, as restated - - - - - 85,109 85,109
Balance at 31 December 2004 409,738 600,412 769 11,520 646 (539,243) 483,842
Balance at 1 January 2005,
as per above 409,738 600,412 769 11,520 646 (539,243) 483,842
Opening adjustment on
derecognition of negative
goodwill on the adoption of
HKEFRS 3 (see Note 2(a)) - - - - ~ 7,467 7,467
Balance at 1 January 2005,
as restated 409,738 600,412 769 11,520 646 (531,776) 491,309
Currency translation adjustments - - - - 2,458 - 2,458
Revaluation surplus of
available-for-sale financial assets - - - 900 -~ - 900
Profit for the year - - - - - 28,149 28,149
Balance at 31 December 2005 409,738 600,412 769 12,420 3,104 (503,627) 522,816
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Company
Capital
Share  Contributed  redemption Accumulated

premium surplus (c) reserve losses Total
HK$°000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Balance at 1 January 2004 409,738 575,220 769 (503,323) 482,404
Profit for the year - - - 21,278 21,278
Balance at 31 December 2004 409,738 575,220 769 (482,045) 503,682
Profit for the year - - - 1,345 1,345
Balance at 31 December 2005 409,738 575,220 769 (480,700) 505,027

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair value of shares in ONFEM
Investments Limited acquired by the Company over the nominal value cf the new shares
of the Company issued pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement dated 19 November
1991.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders,
subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and share premium
account.

At 31 December 2005, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$95,289,000 (2004: HK$93,944,000).

26. Deferred tax

The movemernt on the deferred tax assets is as follows:

Group

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$°000

Balance at 1 January 952 932

Recognised in the income statement - -

Balance at 31 December 932 932
The movement on the deferred tax liabilities during the year is as follows:

2005 2004

HK$°000 HK$'000

Balance at 1 January 105 -

Recognised in the income statement - 105

Balance at 31 December 105 105

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2005,
the Group had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of approximately HK$215,180,000 (2004:
HK$260,816,000) to carry forward against future taxable income, and these tax losses have no expiry
date. In addition, the Group had unrecognised tax losses in the PRC of approximately HK$24,278,000 as
at 31 December 2005 (2004: HK$26,588,000), and these tax losses will expire within 5 years.
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27. Trade and other payables

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Trade, bills and contract payables (a) 99,794 75,301 - -
Retention payables 10,453 6,436 - -
Accruals and other payables 38,459 24,804 3,078 2,730
Provisions (b) - - 18,237 -
Temporary receipts 7,699 103 - -
Rental deposits received 1,195 1,922 - -
157,600 108,566 21,315 2,730

(a) The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables is as follows:

Group

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$'000
0 - 30 days 25,617 14,024
31 - 60 days 10,161 11,504
61 - 90 days 3,821 1,151
Over 90 days 60,195 48,622
99,794 75,301

The carrying amounts of trade, bills and contract payables are denominated in the
following currencies:

Group
2005 2004
HK$'600 HK$'000
Hong Kong dollar 2,599 6,357
RMB 96,257 68,249
US dollar 568 509
Other currencies 370 186
99,794 75,301
(b) Provisions
Company
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$’000
Balance at 1 January - 50,078
Provisions for the year 18,237 -
Payments - (28,459)
Unused amounts reversed - (21,619)
Balance at 31 December 18,237 ~

The amount represents the provision made for corporate guarantees in respect of banking
facilities extended to subsidiaries.
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28. Short-term borrowings

Bank overdrafts, secured (Note‘23)
Bank term-loans, secured

Bank borrowings, secured (a)

Loan from a former minority investor -

Loan from a fellow subsidiary, secured (Nofe 33)

(a) Banking facilities

Group
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK3$'000
1,103 1,158
13,936 35,247
15,039 36,405
6,726
48,055 -
63,094 43,131

The Group’s aggregate banking facilities, including bank borrowings, as at 31 December
2005 were approximately HK$194,685,000 (2004: HK$50,262,000), of which the unutilised facilities
as at the same date amounted to approximately HK$176,011,000 (2004: HK$13,295,000). Securities

for the facilities include:

(i) fixed deposits of the Group of approximately HK$5,000,000 (2004: HK$38,100,000),
including that of the Company of approximately HK$5,000,000 (2004:

HK$9,500,000);
(ii) investment properties and leasehold land and buildings with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$236,299,000 (2004: HK$215,000,000) and HK$8,753,000 (2004:
Nil) respectively; and
(iif)  corporate guarantees given by the Company.
(b) All the short-term borrowings are on a floating interest rate basis. The effective interest
rates at the balance sheet date were as follows:
2005 2004
HKS$ RMB HK$ RMB
Bank overdrafts, secured 7.75% - 5.00% -
Bank term-loans, secured - 5.58% - 5.51%
Loan from a fellow subsidiary,
secured - 5.74% - -
(0 The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate their fair values and are
denominated in the following currencies:
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong dollar 1,103 1,158
RMB 61,991 41,973
63,094 43,131
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29. Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme and a Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) scheme for the eligible employees in Hong Kong.

A defined contribution pension scheme is provided to certain eligible employees (“Employees”)
employed by the Group. The Group is required to make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the Employees’ monthly salary. Employees under the defined contribution scheme are entitled to 100%
of the employer’s contributions and the accrued interest upon retirement or leaving the Group after
completing ten years of service from the date of joining the Group, or at a scale of between 20% and 90%
after completing at least two but less than ten years of service from the date of joining the Group.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Group and those employees
not eligible to join the defined contribution pension scheme make monthly contributions to the MPF at
5% of the employees’ cash income as defined under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both of the
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a maximum of HK$1,000 per month per
employee and thereafter contributions are voluntary and are not subject to any limitation. The mandatory
contributions under the MPF are fully and immediately vested in the employees as accrued benefits
once they are paid to the approved trustees of the MPF scheme. Investment income or profit derived
from the investment of accrued benefits (after taking into account any loss arising from such investment)
is also immediately vested in the employees. In addition to the mandatory contribution, employees are
entitled to 100% of the employers” voluntary contributions to the fund plus investment earnings upon
leaving employment after completing ten years of service, or upon retirement after attaining the retirement
age notwithstanding the number of years of service, or upon death or ceasing to be an employee due to
total incapacity . Employees are also entitled to the employers’ voluntary contributions to the fund plus
investment earnings calculated at a scale of between 20% and 90% after completing a period of service
of at least two but less than ten years.

The Group’s contributions to the pension scheme and the MPF scheme are expensed as incurred
and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Forfeited contributions totalling HK$57,000 (2004: HK$61,000) were utilised
during the year and there were no unutilised forfeited contributions available as at 31 December 2005.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to a state-sponsored
retirement plan for its employees in the PRC as determined by the local government. The Group is
required to contribute to the plan at a rate ranging from 10% to 22% of the basic salary of the PRC
employees in addition to contributions by employees at a rate of 8% of the basic salary as specified by
the local government, and the Group has no further obligations for the actual payment of the pensions
or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions made.
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30. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from/(used in) operations:

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$°000
Profit before tax 24,507 86,191
Interest income (2,358) (2,383)
Interest expense 583 1,385
Depreciation 2,929 3,220
Amortisation of land lease premium - 113
Amortisation of goodwill and negative goodwill - (3,954)
Revaluation gain on investment properties (15,196) (23,633)
Impairment loss of leasehold land and land use rights - 1,798
Write-back of provision for impairment loss of property,
plant and equipment - (405)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,215) (294)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries - (78,707)
Impairment loss of other assets 1,312 -
Provision for properties under development - 25,000
Provision/(write-back of provision) for inventory obsolescence 398 (636)
Write-back of provision for impairment of receivables (5,300) (9,295)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss/trading securities (289) (347)
Write-back of provision for a bank guarantee - (10,148)
Dividend income from securities investment (393) (449)
Wavier of debt by a former minority investor - (3,051)
Operating loss before working capital changes 22) (15,595)
Increase in retention receivables, non-current portion (3,660) (272)
Decrease in other assets " 55 22
Increase in inventories (6,449) (6,670)
Decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary - 1
Decrease in amount due frorn a minority investor - 37
Increase in trade and other receivables (73,192) (4,044)
Decrease in gross amounts due from/to customers
for contract work, net 130 2,722
Decrease in pledged deposits 33,100 15,110
Decrease in amounts due to minority investors - (690)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 49,034 (22,304)
Increase in other liabilities 286 649
Exchange adjustments 1,900 2,480
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 1,182 (28,554)
31. Contingent liabilities
The Company had executed:
(a) corporate guarantees to various banks in respect of banking facilities extended to

subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$194,400,000 (2004: HK$21,600,000). As at 31
December 2005, the facilities utilised amounted to approximately HK$18,528,000 (2004:
HK$1,452,000); and

(b) a letter of guarantee amounting to approximately HK$8,993,000 (2004: Nil) to an employer

of a specialised construction contract undertaken by a subsidiary in respect of an advanced
payment made by the employer to the subsidiary on such contract.
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32. Commitments
(a) Capital commitments of the Group outstanding at 31 December 2005 were as follows:
2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Contracted but not provided for in respect of property
development 275,890 29,508

At 31 December 2005, the Company did not have any outstanding capital commitments
(2004: Nil).

(b) At 31 December 2005, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancelable operating leases as follows:

2005 2004

HK$'000 HK$'000

Not later than one year 4,475 3,202
Later than one year and not later than five years 5,429 3,202
After five years 2,550 3,216
12,454 9,620

At 31 December 2005, the Company did not have any operating lease commitments (2004:
Nil).

() The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases which generally run
for an initial period of one to three years. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

At 31 December 2005, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$'000

Not later than one year 11,226 9,382
Later than one year and not later than five years 5,828 7,919
17,054 17,301

At 31 December 2005, the Company did not have any future lease receipts (2004: Nil).
33. Related party transactions

The Directors consider the immediate holding company to be June Glory International Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands; the intermediate holding company to be China
Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited (“Minmetals HK”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong; and the
ultimate holding company to be China Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals”), a company
incorporated in the PRC.
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The Group had the following material transactions and balances with related parties, which
were carried out in the ordinary and normal course of business of the Group:

(a)

(b}

(c)

Transactions with related parties

2005 2004
HK$'000 HK$'000
Construction project management service revenue from
a fellow subsidiary (Note (i) 15,344 8,009
Specialised construction revenue from related companies
(Notz (ii)) 30,206 9,682
Rental expenses and license fees paid
to fellow subsidiaries (Note (iii)) 1,354 968
Loan interest costs to a fellow subsidiary (Note (1v)) 1,037 -
Advanced payment to a related company for a specialised
construction contract (Note (ii)) 2,632 -
Proceed from disposal of factory to a local government
in the PRC (Note (ii)) 10,133 -
Balances with related parties
Contract receivable from a fellow subsidiary for
construction project management services (Note (i)) 2,562 ~
Progress payment from a fellow subsidiary for
construction project management services (Note (i) - 810
Contract and other receivables from related companies
for specialised construction contracts (Note (ii)) 15,901 2,641
Contract payable to a related company for a real estate
development project (Note (ii)) 34,52 33,768
Contract and retention payables to a related company
for a specialised construction contract (Nete (ii)) 22,540 5,138
Short-term loan from a fellow subsidiary (Note (iv)) 48,055 ~
Loan interest payable to a fellow subsidiary (Note (iv)) 84 ~
Key management compensation
Salaries and short-term employee benefits 5,401 5,564
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 60 60
5,461 5,624

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Details of the construction project management agreement daied 29 July 2004
entered into between a subsidiary and a fellow subsidiary of the Company have
been published in the Company’s announcement dated 29 July 2004. The
transaction constituted a connected transaction as defined in the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

As China Minmetals is a state-owned enterprise, the government of the PRC
(“"PRC Government”) is considered as the Company’s ultimate controlling party.
State-controlled enterprises and their subsidiaries, in addition to China Minmetals,
directly or indirectly controlled by the PRC Government are also considered as
related parties of the Group. Since many state-controlled enterprises have multi-
layered and diversified corporate structure and the structure may also change
over time as a result of transfers and privatisation programmes, to balance the
cost and benefit in making disclosure, the Group has only disclosed material
transactions with such stated-controlled enterprises.
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(iii)  The transactions constituted continuing connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules.

(iv)  The short-term loan from a fellow subsidiary made on 24 August 2005, for working
capital purposes to a subsidiary of the Company for a term of 6 months bearing
interest at the rate of 5.74% per annum, is secured by a corporate guarantee from
Minmetals HK. The transaction constituted a connected transaction as defined in
the Listing Rules.

34. Events after the balance sheet date

On 11 April 2006, a shareholders” agreement was entered into amongst Karman Industries Limited
(“KIL"), Stillpower Limited (“SL”) (both are indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company),
World Ocean Development Limited (“WODL”) and Oriental Dragon Construction Limited (“ODCL"),
pursuant to which ODCL will become a joint venture company, owned as to 71% by the Company
through KIL and SL and 29% by WODL, upon completion of the share transfer. ODCL, through Dragon
Construction (Nanjing) Properties Company Limited (“Project Company”), its wholly owned subsidiary
established in the PRC on 5 January 2006, undertakes a residential property development project in
Nanjing.

It is estimated that before financing from financial institutions is available, the Project Company
would require an initial financing of approximately RMB180,000,000 (approximately HK$173,077,000) to
meet the full payment of the relevant land premium and other preliminary expenses, of which
approximately RMB172,237,000 (approximately HK$165,613,000) will be provided by the Group as loans
to ODCL, while WODL will provide loans of approximately RMB7,763,000 (approximately HK$7,464,000)
to ODCL and, together with its associates, pledge properties with acceptable values of approximately
RMB44,437,000 (approximately HK$42,728,000) as securities to the Group in exchange for its provision
of WODL's share of financing to ODCL.

Further details of the above transaction have been set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 11 April 2006.
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C. INDEBTEDNESS
Borrowings

As at the close of business on 31 March 2006, being the latest practicable date
for the purpose of this indebtedness statement prior to the printing of this circular,
the Group had aggregate outstanding borrowings of approximately HK$151,372,000,
comprising secured bank overdrafts of approximately HK$1,039,000, secured trust
receipt bank loans of approximately HK$626,000, secured short-term bank loans of
approximately HK$70,864,000 and short-term loans from a fellow subsidiary of
approximately HK$78,843,000 guaranteed by China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings)
Limited, the intermediate holding company of the Company.

Save as aforesaid and apart from trade and other payables and other liabilities,
the Group did not have any debt securities issued and outstanding, or authorised or
otherwise created but unissued, and term loans, which are either guaranteed,
unguaranteed, secured and/or unsecured, and other borrowings or indebtedness in
the nature of borrowing, including bank overdrafts and liabilities under acceptances
(other than normal trade bills) or acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments,
which are either guaranteed, unguaranteed, secured and/or unsecured, at the close
of business on 31 March 2006.

Contingent liabilities

As at the close of business on 31 March 2006, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities or guarantees.

Securities and charges

As at the close of business on 31 March 2006, the Group’s aggregate banking
facilities in respect of the short-term bank borrowings, were approximately
HK$196,154,000, which were secured by pledged deposits of the Group of
approximately HK$47,472,000; investment properties and leasehold land and
buildings of the Group with carrying amounts of approximately HK$236,299,000
and HK$8,753,000 respectively; and corporate guarantees provided by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any mortgages or charges at
the close of business on 31 March 2006.

D. WORKING CAPITAL
Taking into account the financial resources available to the Group, including
internally generated funds and available banking facilities, the Directors are of the opinion

that the Group will have sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for
at least the next 12 months from the date of this circular.
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The following unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of assets and liabilities
of the Group as at 31 December 2005 has been prepared on the basis of the notes set out
below for the purpose of illustrating the effect of the Transaction as if it had taken place
on 31 December 2005. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of assets and
liabilities set out below has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and because of its
hypothetical nature, it may not give a true picture of the financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2005 or at any future date.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of assets and liabilities set out
below is based on the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December
2005 as extracted from the 2005 annual report of the Company and after making certain
pro forma adjustments as set out below.
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ONFEM Holdings Limited
Unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2005

Consolidated
statement of assets
and liabilities of
the Group as at

31 December 2005 Pro forma adjustments
HK$000 HK$000 Note
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15,346
Investment properties 239,899
Goodwill 19,383
Available-for-sale financial assets 29,340
Deferred tax assets 932
Retention receivables 4,539
Other assets 349
309,788
Current assets
Inventories 214,796 135,288 (a)
25,000 (b)
Trade and other receivables 161,982 MZS,OOO) ( b)j
Gross amounts due from
customers for contract work 744
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 2,778
Pledged deposits 5,000
Cash and bank deposits 143,347 (65,288) (a)
3 (c)
528,647
Total assets 838,435
- 79 —

Pro forma
balances
HK$'000

15,346
239,899
19,383
29,340
932
4,539
349

309,788

375,084

136,982
744
2,778

5,000
78,062

598,650
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Consolidated
statement of assets
and liabilities of

the Group as at Pro forma
31 December 2005 Pro forma adjustments balances
HK$'000 HK$'000 Note HK$'000
EQUITY
Capital and reserves
attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Share capital 77,218 77,218
Reserves 522,816 7 (c) 522,823
600,034 600,041
Minority interest - 4) {c) (4)
Total equity 600,034 600,037
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 105 105
Other liabilities 7,220 7,220
_______ 7,325 73
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 157,600 (7,465) (d) 150,135
Loan from a minority investor - 7,465 (d) 7,465
Current tax payable 10,382 10,382
Short-term borrowings 63,094 70,000 (a) 133,094
_...231,076 ....301,076
Total liabilities 238,401 308,401
Total equity and liabilities 838,435 908,438
Net current assets 297,571 297,574
Total assets less current
liabilities 607,359 607,362
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

(0)

(d)

The adjustment reflects the remaining payment of approximately HIK$128,846,000
(RMB134,000,000) and transaction costs of approximately HK$6,442,000 (RMB¢,700,000) in
completing the acquisition of the Land. Of these amounts, HK$70,000,000 of bank borrowings
have been drawn down as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The adjustment reflects the reclassification of the initial deposit of approximately HK$25,000,000
(RMB26,000,000) in acquiring the Land from deposit to inventory upon completion of the
acquisition.

The adjustment reflects the disposal of a 29% shareholding in ODCL to WODL at HK$2,900 and
the profit on disposal (based on the proportionate amount of net liabilities of ODCL).

The adjustment reflects the reclassification of the shareholders’ loan received by ODCL from
WODL of USD957,000 (approximately HK$7,422,000) from other payables to loan from a minority

investor.

No adjustment has been made to reflect any trading result or other transaction of the Group
entered into subsequent to 31 December 2005.
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The following is the text of a report received from PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified
Public Accountants, Hong Kong, for the purpose of incorporation in this circular.

PRICEWATERHOUSE( COPERS

B 5 BAE 3t R A P P bae
Central Hong Kong

The Directors
ONFEM Holdings Limited

24 May 2006
Dear Sirs,

We report on the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of assets and liabilities
of ONFEM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 81 under the heading of “Pro Forma
Financial Information of the Group” (the “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information”)
in Appendix II of the Company’s circular dated 24 May 2006, in connection with the
proposed formation of the joint venture company for a property development project in
Nanjing, the PRC including the provision of financing to the joint venture company (the
“Circular”). The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared by the
Directors of the Company, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about
how the proposed transaction might have affected the relevant financial information of
the Group. The basis of preparation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is
set out on pages 78 to 81 of the Circular.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Reporting Accountants

It is the responsibility solely of the Directors of the Company to prépare the
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information in accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and Accounting Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial
Information for Inclusion in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™).

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 4.29(7) of the
Listing Rules, on the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information and to report our opinion
to you. We do not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any
financial information used in the compilation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information beyond that owed to those to whom those reports were addressed by us at
the dates of their issue.
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Basis of Opinion

We conducted cur engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma
Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the HKICPA. Our work, which
involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial information,
consisted primarily of comparing the consolidated statement of assets and liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2005 with the audited consolidated balance sheet of the
Group as at 31 December 2005 as shown in the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2005, considering the evidence supporting
the adjustments and discussing the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information with the
Directors of the Company.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled
by the Directors of the Company on the basis stated, that such basis is consistent with the
accounting policies of the Group and that the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes
of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to
paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules.

The Unaudited Fro Forma Financial Information is for illustrative purposes only,
based on the judgements and assumptions of the Directors of the Company, and because
of its hypothetical nature, it does not provide any assurance or indication that any event
will take place in the future and may not be indicative of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2005 or at any future date.

Opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled
by the Directors of the Company on the basis stated;

(b)  such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

(c)  the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing
Rules.

Yours faithfully,
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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The following report comprises the text of a letter and a valuation certificate, prepared for
the purpose of incorporation in this circular received from RHL Appraisal Limited, independent
valuers, in connection with its valuation of the Land as at 31 March 2006.

J 44 SRR ARRA R | RHL Appraisal Ltd oo 1070, Star House

Tsimshatsui, Hong Kong
FHRYEENAT1010%

T +852273086212
F +852 2736 9284
E info@rhl-int.com
W www.rhl-int.com

Surveying Practices — Corporate Valuation and Property Consultancy
Lincense No.: C-015672

24 May 2006

The Board of Directors

ONFEM Holdings Limited

18th Floor China Minmetals Tower
No. 79 Chatham Road South
Tsimshatsui Kowloon

Hong Kong

Dear Sirs,

Re: Lot no. 2005G108 situated at the junction of Xue Si Road and Xue Qi Road, Science
Park, Jiangning District, Nanjing, the People’s Republic of China

We refer to our appointment as the independent valuer of ONFEM Holdings Limited
for a piece of land situated at the junction of Xue Si Road and Xue Qi Road, Science Park,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, the People’s Republic of China with lot no. 2005G108. Terms
used in this report shall have the same meaning as those defined in the circular to the
shareholders of the Company dated 24 May 2006 (the “Circular”), of which this report
forms part.

In accordance with your instructions to value the Land in which the Company or its
subsidiaries have interest, we confirm that we have carried out an inspection, made relevant
enquiries and searches and obtained such further information as we consider necessary
for the purpose of providing you with our opinion of the value of the Land as at 31 March
2006 (the “date of valuation”).

Basis of Valuation

The valuation is our opinion of the market value which we would define as intended
to mean the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of
valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s - length transaction
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably prudently and
without compulsion.
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Valuation Methodology

In valuing the Land, the “Direct Comparison Method” is adopted where comparison
based on prices information of comparable properties is made. Comparable properties of
similar size, character and location are analysed and carefully weighted against all the
respective advantages and disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair
comparison of capital values.

Assumptions

Our valuations have been made on the assumption that the owner sells the Land in
the market in its existing state without the benefit of deferred term contracts, leasebacks,
joint ventures, management agreements or any similar arrangements which would serve
to affect the value of the Land.

As the Land is held by the owner on long term land use rights, we have assumed
that the owner has free and uninterrupted right to use the Land for the whole of the
unexpired term of its land use rights. Vacant possession is assumed for the Land.

Other special assumptions in relation to the Land, if any, have been stated out in
the footnotes of the valuation certificate for the Land.

Title Investigation

We have been, in some instances, provided with some title documents relating to
the Land. However, we have not searched the original documents to verify ownership or
to verify the existence of any lease amendments which do not appear on the copies handed
to us. All legal documents disclosed in this report are for reference only and no
responsibility is assumed for any legal matters concerning the legal title to the Land set
out in this report.

We have also relied on the legal opinion given by the PRC legal advisers, Shanghai
City Development Law Firm, to the Company, on the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and on the nature of the owner’s interests in the Land as at the valuation date.

Limiting Conditions

No allowance has been made in this report for any charges, mortgages or amounts
owing on the Land valued nor for any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in
effecting a sale. Unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that the Land is free from
encumbrances, restrictions, outstanding land premium and outgoings of an onerous nature,
which could affect its value.
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In valuing the Land, we have complied with all the requirements contained in
Chapter 5 of the Listing Rules and the HKIS Valuation Standards on Properties (First
Edition 2005) published by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors effective from 1 January
2005.

We have relied to a very considerable extent on the information given by the Group
and have accepted advice given to us on such matters as tenure, planning approvals,
statutory notices, easements, particulars of occupancy, lettings, and all other relevant
matters.

We have carried out inspection of the Land. However, we must point out that we
have not carried out site investigations to determine the suitability of the ground conditions
or the services for the Land. Our valuation is on the basis that these aspects are satisfactory
and that no extraordinary expenses or delays will be incurred during the construction
period.

We have no reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided to
us by the Group. We have also sought and received confirmation from the Group that no
material factors have been omitted from the information supplied. We consider that we
have been provided with sufficient information to reach an informed view, and we have
no reason to suspect that any material information has been withheld.

All monetary sums stated in this report are in Renminbi.
The valuation certificate is attached herewith.
Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of
RHL Appraisal Ltd.

Tse Wai Leung Sandra S.W. Lau
BSc MFin MRICS MHKIS RPS(GP) MFin MHKIS AAPI RPS(GP)
Director Director

Mr. Tse Wai Leung is a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, a registered professional surveyor in General Practice
and a qualified real estate appraiser in the PRC. Ms. Sandra S. W. Lau is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, an associate of the Australian Property Institute and a registered
professional surveyor in General Practice. Both of them are on the list of Property Valuers for
Undertaking Valuations for Incorporation or Reference in Listing Particulars and Circulars and
Valuations in Connection with Takeovers and Mergers of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors,
Registered Business Valuers under the Hong Kong Business Valuation Forum and have over ten
years’ experience in valuation of properties in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC.
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VALUATION CERTIFICATE

Property held for future development

Property Description and tenure
Lot no. 2005G108
situated at the
junction of Xue Si
Road and Xue Qi
Road, Science Park,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing, the PRC

The Land comprises a parcel of
lard covering a total area of
310,295.5 square metres of which
developable site area accounting
for 198,054.5 square metres. The
remaining portion of the site is

Market value
in existing state
as at

31 March 2006

Particulars of
occupancy

The Land is currently a RMB160,000,000

bare and vacant site.

occupied by water ponds or is

designated for traffic roads,
green area and educational

facilities.

According to the land grant
conditions of the Land, it is
designated for residential use
including ancillary commercial
facilities. Material land grant
conditions of the Land are set

out in Note 2 below.

The land use rights in the Land
for residential use are held for a
term of 70 years commencing
frem the issue date of the land
use rights certificate to be issued

for the Land.

Notes:

1. Pursuant to a State Land Use Rights Transfer Contract entered into between The Bureau of Land
Resources, Jiangning Branch, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC (the “Grantor”) and ODCL on 27
December 2005, the Grantor granted the land use rights in the Land to ODCL for residential use including
ancillary commercial facilities at a consideration of RMB160,000,000 payable at the following payment

terms:

Initial deposit payabie upon signing of the State Land Use Rights

Transfer Contract for the Land:
On or before 12 January 2006:
On or before 27 March 2006:

‘On or before 27 April 2006:
On or before 30 May 2006:

RMB26,000,000
RMB54,000,000
RMB32,000,000
RMB32,000,000
RMB16,000,000

As confirmed by the Company, a total sum of RMB112,000,000 has been paid as at the date of valuation.
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As stated in the State Land Use Rights Transfer Contract for the Land, the Land is subject to the
following material land grant conditions:

Maximum Plot Ratio : 1.2 times

Build-over Area (Site Coverage) : not more than 25%

Building Height : not higher than 24 metres

Green Open Space : not less than 40% (at least one green area of not less
than 5,000 square metres shall be provided)

Building Work Commencement : within one year upon issue of the land use rights

certificate for the Land
PRC legal opinion on the Land is summarised as follows:
31 The land grant procedures of the Land were in compliance with applicable laws in the PRC;
3.2 The State Land Use Rights Transfer Contract for the Land is valid and enforceable;
33 The Land is not encumbranced with any mortgage, charge and court foreclosure order; and

3.4 ODCL/the Project Company shall obtain full and complete land use rights in the Land upon full
payment of land premium and obtaining the land use rights certificate for the Land.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Group. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any
statement herein misleading.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the Latest Fracticable Date, the interests of the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares or in the shares or underlying shares
of any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO), which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, were as follows:

Long Position in Shares of the Company

(a)  Shares
Nature of Number of
Name of Director interest Shares held
He Xiaoli Personal 20,000
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(b)  Share options

The following outstanding share options were granted to the Directors under
the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 29 May 2003:

Number of
share options
outstanding
Exercise as at
Date of price of the Latest Approximate
Name of acceptance of Exercise period share  Practicable  percentage
Director share options of share options  options Date shareholding
HK$ (%)
Wang Xingdong 16 March 2004 16 March 2004 to 0.83 3,000,000 0.39
15 March 2007
Yan Xichuan 16 March 2004 16 March 2004 to 0.83 2,000,000 0.26
15 March 2007
Qian Wenchao 16 March 2004 16 March 2004 to 0.83 1,500,000 0.19
15 March 2007
He Xiaoli 16 March 2004 16 March 2004 to 0.83 1,500,000 0.19
15 March 2007

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company or any of their associates had any personal, family,
corporate or other interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had entered into, or proposed
to enter into, a service contract with any member of the Group which does not expire or is
not terminable by such member of the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN ASSETS, CONTRACTS AND COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, (i) none of the Directors was materially interested
in any contract or arrangement subsisting at the Latest Practicable Date, which is significant
in relation to the business of the Group; (ii) none of the Directors and his/her respective
associates had any competing interests (as would be required to disclose under Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules if each of them were a controlling shareholder); and (iii) none of the
Directors had any direct or indirect interest in any assets which had been, since the date
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to which the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up,
acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group, or were proposed to be
acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business, have been entered into by members of the Group within the two years preceding
the date of this circular and are material:

1. the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 2 June 2004 entered into
between Sino Wisdom Enterprises Limited (“Sino Wisdom”) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Condo Engineering (China) Limited
(in liquidation) (“CEC”) and the liquidators of CEC in relation to the acquisition
of a 90.39% equity interest in Shanghai Jin Qiao Condo Decoration Engineering
Limited (EFB & B mMEMH TEFRAF) (“SJQ”) by Sino Wisdom for an
aggregate consideration of HK$4,000,000; and

2. the conditional sale and purchase agreement dated 10 June 2004 entered into
between Sino Wisdom and Shanghai Huayuan Aite Curtain Wall Company
Limited (F B EREFHHE TEE R A F) in relation to the acquisition of a
9.61% equity interest in SJQ by Sino Wisdom for an aggregate consideration of
RMB1,170,000.

LITIGATION

1. On 13 March 2003, the Company commenced legal proceedings in Hong Kong (the
“Action”) against Mr. Yu Lap On Stephen (“Mr. Yu”), Mr. Ng Tze Kwan (“Mr. Ng”)
and Mr. Cheung Sui Keung (“Mr. Cheung”), as well as companies controlled by
them (namely Turner Overseas Limited, Spirit Sunshine Inc. and Silver Lake Asia
Corporation respectively) (coilectively, the “Defendants”). Mr. Yu, Mr. Ng and Mr.
Cheung are directors of CEC and Condo Curtain Wall Company Limited (“CCW”),
both of which are in liquidation. The claims are based on counter-indemnities
executed on 23 March 1998, 5, 6 and 11 January 1999 by the Defendants in favour of
the Company as referred to in items 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 in the section headed “Counter-
Indemnities” for CCW, Wellstep Management Limited and their respective
subsidiaries in the “Letter from the Board” in the circular of the Company dated 10
November 2003 in respect of the liabilities and obligations covered by those counter-
indemnities as more particularly described in that section. As at 15 January 2004,
the principal amount claimed against each of the Defendants in the Action is
approximately HK$16,400,000.

On 8 April 2003 and 16 June 2003, the Company obtained judgment against Mr. Ng
and Spirit Sunshine Inc. respectively. The Company also obtained judgment dated
14 January 2004 against Mr. Yu, Mr. Cheung, Turner Overseas Limited and Silver
Lake Asia Corpcration pursuant to the Company’s application for summary
judgment. Pursuant to the said judgments, each of the Defendants is required to pay
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the Company a sum of HK$16,418,527.51 together with accrued interests and costs.
The said judgments took effect immediately from their respective dates, and are
enforceable by the Company. Mr. Ng was made bankrupt by the High Court of
Hong Kong (the “Court”) on 20 November 2003. The Company demanded Mr. Yu,
Mr. Cheung, Turner Overseas Limited and Silver Lake Asia Corporation to make
full payment of the judgment debt on 15 January 2004. Since no payment has been
made by them, the Company filed a petition for a bankruptcy order against Mr. Yu
on 15 April 2004, which petition was heard by the Court on 9 June 2004. A bankruptcy
order was made against Mr. Yu by the Court on 9 June 2004. The Company filed a
proof of debt on 12 July 2004 in the bankruptcy of Mr. Yu. The Company also
applied for the examination of Mr. Cheung as to his assets, means and liabilities,
and an order for examination was made by the Court on 5 May 2004. Meanwhile,
Mr. Cheung filed a petition for a bankruptcy order against himself on 30 October
2004 and a bankruptcy order was made against Mr. Cheung by the Court on 30
November 2004. On 7 April 2005, a proof of debt was filed by the Company in the
bankruptcy of Mr. Cheung. As of the Latest Practicable Date, no payment has been
received from any of the Defendants.

On 12 March 2003, the Company commenced legal proceedings in Hong Kong against
(i) its former Director, Mr. Cui Guisheng (“Mr. Cui”); (ii) its former financial
controller, Mr. Ip Shu Wah Reginald (“Mr. Ip”); (iii) Jointstock Investments Limited
(“Jointstock™); (iv) ICEA Financial Services Limited (“ICEA”); and (v) Gold Light
Development Limited (“Gold Light”). The Company’s claims are for, inter alia, the
sum of HK$20,000,000 together with interest, in connection with or arising out of
the Company’s purported participation in a purported HK$20,000,000 loan from
Jointstock to ICEA.

The defendants (except Gold Light) have instructed legal advisers to defend the
claims. Mr. Ip filed and served his defence on 29 April 2003 and Jointstock and
ICEA filed and served their defence on 14 May 2003. On 2 July 2003, an order (the
“Order”) was made by the Court to, inter alia, stay all further proceedings in the
action against Mr. Cui until after the conclusion of the criminal trial in the District
Court against Mr. Cui under District Court Criminal Case No. 383 of 2003 (the
“Criminal Action”), which relates to certain transactions involved in the action. On
20 April 2004, the Criminal Action against Mr. Cui was withdrawn and as a result,
the stay of proceedings in the action against Mr. Cui under the Order was uplifted
on that day. On 14 June 2004, Mr. Cui filed and served his defence. As for the legal
action against Gold Light, the Court made a winding up order against Gold Light
on 19 November 2003 and by reason of the winding up order and operation of law,
the legal proceedings brought by the Company against Gold Light has been stayed,
which shall not be proceeded with except by leave of the Court. The proceedings of
the Company against the other defendants (namely, Mr. Cui, Mr. Ip, Jointstock and
ICEA) are ongoing. Lists of documents and witness statements had been filed by the
parties (except Gold Light) who had also recently amended their respective claims
and defences. The parties are preparing the case with a view to obtaining leave from
the Court to set the case down for trial, but the trial date has not yet been fixed.
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Further details of the transactions have been announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 1 February 2002, 4 February 2002 and 8 July 2002 respectively.

Zhuhai (Oriental) Blue Horrison Properties Company Limited (kiR TR EXFH
MR &) (“ZOBHP”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has received a
writ of summons dated 4 February 2004 (the “Summons”) issued by the PRC court.
According to the Summons, China Railway Nineteenth Bureau Group Corporation
(PE LB EMARNE) (“China Railway”) alleged that ZOBHP was in breach
of a construction confract entered into with China Railway in 1999 in relation to a
property development project (the “Project”) in which China Railway was the main
contractor. The aggregate amount claimed by China Railway was approximately
RMB23,115,000 plus further interests, damages and costs.

ZOBHP has made a counter-claim on China Railway in the amount of approximately
RMB41,730,000 for damages in the delay in the progress and the quality of work
performed by China Railway and requested that the construction contract entered
with China Railway be declared null and voeid.

On 30 July 2004, the PRC court ordered that China Railway be evacuated from the
construction site cf the Project and such evacuation took place on 8 November 2004.
In early 2005, the PRC court notified ZOBHP that all construction work of the
Project could resume. The proceedings of the case are ongoing and no judgement
has been made yet.

Further details of the transaction have been announced by the Company in its
announcement dated 13 February 2004.

On 15 June 2004, the Company was informed by Polycrown Engineering Limited
(“PEL”), a 51% non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, that the board of
directors of PEL (“PEL Board”) had resolved that PEL be wound up pursuant to
section 228A of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(“CO") because PEL Board considered that PEL could not by reason of its enormous
liabilities continue its business. On 12 July 2004, Mr. Desmond Chung Seng Chiong
and Mr. Roderick John Suttor were appointed as the joint and several liquidators of
PEL at a creditors’ meeting of PEL. The liquidation is on-going.

On 7 July 2004, ONFEM Investments Limited (“OIL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, filed a petition for the winding-up of Polycrown Engineering
(Holdings) Limited (“PEHL”) to the Court since PEHL had failed to meet a statutory
demand in the sum of HK$2,151,000 issued by OIL on 28 May 2004. The Court
ordered PEHL to be wound-up under the provisions of the CO on 11 August 2004.
On 23 May 2005, Mr. Desmond Chung Seng Chiong and Mr. Roderick John Sutton
were appointed as the joint and several liquidators of PEHL. The liquidation is on-

going.

Further details of the transactions have been announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 16 June 2004, 7 July 2004, 11 August 2004 and 7 June 2005,
respectively.
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On 2 November 2004, the Company filed a petition for a bankruptcy order against
Mr. Leung Pok Ching (“Mr. Leung”) who was a director of PEL and PEHL and has
an attributable interest of 49% in PEHL. A bankruptcy order was made by the Court
against Mr. Leung on 5 January 2005.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

The Directors are not aware of any material adverse change in the financial or
trading position of the Group since 31 December 2005, the date to which the latest published
audited financial statements of the Group were made up.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

Mr. Tsui of 20/F., Island Beverley, 1-5 Great George Street, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong, aged 72, was appointed as a director of the Project Company on 5 January 2006, Mr.
Tsui is also the managing director of Beijing Wu Yi Real Estate Development Co., Limited,
Nanjing Wu Yi Real Estate Development Co., Limited, Capital Wheel Investment Limited,
WODL and Million Sense Consultants Limited.

Mr. Tsui graduated from the Harbin Industrial University in 1959. He had been
employed as a structural engineer of T. Y. Lin (HK) Consulting Engineers Limited, a
project engineer of Lee On Realty Co., Limited and a project manager of Beijing Shangri-La
Hotel Limited. After that, he had worked for Carson Construction Co., Limited, the main
contractor of the Heng Fa Chuen real estate development project, as a project manager for
two years. Mr. Tsui has extensive knowledge and experience in property development in
the PRC.

Mr. Tsui did not hold any directorships in listed public companies in the last three
years. Save as disclosed above, he has no other connections with any Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. He does not have
any interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

EXPERTS

The followings are the qualifications of the experts who have been named in this
circular or have given their reports, opinions or advice which are contained in this circular:

Name Qualification

Access Capital Limited A licensed corporation permitted to engage in
types 1 (dealing in securities), 4 (advising on
securities), 6 (advising on corporate finance) and
9 (asset management) regulated activities as set
out in schedule 5 to the SFO

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants
RHL Appraisal Limited Property valuers
Shanghai City Development PRC lawyers

Law Firm
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Each of Access Capital Limited, PricewaterhouseCoopers, RHL Appraisal Limited
and Shanghai City Development Law Firm has given and has not withdrawn its written
consent to the issue of this circular with the inclusion herein of its letter or report (as the
case may be) prepared for the purpose of incorporation in this circular, and the references
to its name and letter or report (as the case may be) in the form and context in which they
are respectively included.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of Access Capital Limited,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, RHL Appraisal Limited and Shanghai City Development Law
Firm had any shareholding in any member of the Group or the right (whether legally
enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for securities in
any member of the Group.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of Access Capital Limited,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, RHL Appraisal Limited and Shanghai City Development Law
Firm had any direct or indirect interest in any assets which had been, since the date to
which the latest published audited financial statements of the Group were made up,
acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group, or were proposed to be
acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal
business hours on any weekday (except public holidays) at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at 18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road
South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, up to and including 7 June 2006.

1. the Company’s memorandum of association.and bye-laws;

2. a non-binding letter of intent entered into on 21 December 2005 between the
Company, Mr. Tsui and Mr. Ser;

3. the Sharehclders” Agreement;

4. the letter from the Independent Board Committee, the text of which is set out
on pages 15 to 16 of this Circular;

5. the letter from Access Capital Limited, the text of which is set out on pages 17
to 29 of this circular;

6. the annual report of the Company for each of the two years ended 31 December
2004 and 31 December 2005;

7. the letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers on the unaudited pro forma

consolidated statement of assets and liabilities of the Group, the text of which
is set out in Appendix 1I to this circular;

—95_




LAPPENDIX 1AY% GENERAL INFORMATION

8. the valuation report of the Land, the text of which is set out in Appendix III to
this circular;

9. the legal opinion (in Chinese) dated 19 May 2006 prepared by Shanghai City
Development Law Firm in respect of the Land referred to in the valuation
report of the Land set out in Appendix III to this circular;

10.  the material contracts referred to in the paragraph headed “Material Contracts”
in this appendix; and

11.  the written consents referred to under the section headed “Experts” in this
appendix.

MISCELLANEOUS

1. The qualified accountant of the Company is Ms. YUEN Wai Man. Ms. Yuen is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.

2. The secretary of the Company is Miss. SIU Tin Ho. Miss. Siu is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.

3. The registered office of the Company is at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 12, Bermuda. The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is at 18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the
Company is Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 46th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.
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£5194,685,0008 7T (ZFF W& : 50,262,000 ) MR ABZAXBHHBEELD

176,011,000% 7¢ (ZFF U4 13,295,000 7T) - B Z W EHF:

H
AN
4

&

(i)  AHEHE5,000,000% 70 ( —FEFIF 38,100,000 T) 2 EMEZ BIF
Koy T 2 E 877 305,000,000 76 ( —F F U 4F 9,500,000 7T)

(ii)  RRTE {H 7 A £9236,299,000% 7T ( — F % Y 4£ : 215,000,000% &) & &
8,753,000 e ( —EFEWE: &) I REYWERHEEI M ERT X

(iti) A w2 AR

(b) FIAEHBGFNZFHNEART- REERRRGRRZEBRMNENT:

ZEREHE ZRBNE
o NR ¥ b AR %
|ITHE S HEHA 7.75% - 5.00% -
|ATE BT F I - 5.58% - 5.51%
— MR B A A
ZEX - FHEH - 5.74% — -

() MHMERZIKREWESRRESFZAFEME WL FIERIIR:

ZREHAE —EEWNLE

F T Fi#T

# T 1,103 1,158
AR® 61,991 41,973
63,094 43,131
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8% — R LEL RS
27, BB R {bEEF5HE
A4 | A A7
ZRERhE —FERNE _—BEUE _EBERNE
Fi# T F T F it T F T
BE EBNEH
JE {7 3K TE (a) 99,794 75,301 — -
AR E & 10,453 6,436 — —
RETH & R 3 At
FE {2 E 38,459 24,804 3,078 2,730
BAE (b) — — 18,237 —
il B Mg 3K 7,699 103 — —
B Ee 1,195 1,922 — —
157,600 108,566 21,315 2,730
(a) BE EZEBEXREGHEMEZRZESSFNT:
A 4R
ZERHHE ZBFNE
FiE T F# T
0—30F 25,617 14,024
31— 60H 10,161 11,504
61—90H 3,821 1,151
HE90H 60,195 48,622
99,794 75,301

o REReRMKEZRTETUT I &®IE:

i#
IN=L

ETT
Hn &%

B—H—BZ &%

4 [ R
i
S LEL

Bt A=+ —HZER

A £
ZEEFHE  —EFN4E
F T F#& T
2,599 6,357
96,257 68,249
568 509
370 186
99,794 75,301
Y NP
ZEERE BFNE
T T F it
- 50,078
18,237 —
- (28,459)
- (21,619)
18,237 —

WHREAMB AR BRBTERBEEMERZ CRBREMH-
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| B % — LR i
L) AAFH
BA
BhEE ESERCO HEEEH  BiESR ik
F i Fi#r Fi#r Fi Fix
RoZENE~H-H
ZE% 409,738 575,220 769 (503,323) 482,404
F % A - ~ - 21,278 21,278
R-ZEEMETTA
=+—RzEH 409,738 575,220 769 (482,045) 503,682
AEERF - - - 1,345 1,345
RoZEAF+A
S+—-BrE® 409,738 575,220 769 (480,700) 505,027
(c) EHABRETEHALTRWHEONFEM Investments Limited i 3 2 A FE &
ggz\mﬁﬁ—ﬂﬂ—iwb—ﬂ+nEZHﬁ{ﬁﬁéﬁeT§%§§ﬁ%ﬁﬁiz}i&%E@
%\o
BEOCREATERE BERASTHIRTFRFI - BETHBRT AL
BERGRERER S REHAB  OMEL A BHFEMEL T IRE R G
@J,H,gf?é?%:ﬁjz(ii)zt/z}ﬁ?%EZEI%L%‘E@&ME:E%E%&‘ﬁﬂiﬂxﬁﬁﬁwﬁﬂs
Z:%u%ﬂ°
d EoAR_ZFEREST_A=ZT+T—HAHSERTREAZHEFELAENS
95,289,000 5T ( & & U4 :93,944,000¥ 70 )
26. EHEBIHE
FHEBMBEEZ SN
A4 3
ZRIBHE _FENHE
Fi#or F¥# T
Ww—HA— B2z & 932 932
TE UL % RER - -
WH+_HAHZ=Z+—HzZ&& 932 932
ERELHEEBZEHOT
“REBHE _FRNE
F# T F#T
W—H—B &% : 105 -
R RER - 105
B+ RAR=+—HzZ %% 105 105

o

ARG R EEMERNEEN SR EEERN AN TEERRER
HEMNERENRT B - R _ERAF+T A=+ —B AEERTHRZ A4 HEH R R E
MBWATRER Z BB 5215,180,0008 75 ( ZF T 04 : 260,816,0008 7T) » i 8%
EREEENEERRABB - AEEAR _EERE+ A=+ — B EFEZ AR
BRI £ 524,278,000 00 ( B E U4 126,588,000 70) M EHEERERITERNE
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M &% — AL E 2z M EE R
(i) FITEZEREREZSEHUTF:
ZEZALE RN
W B HE Vi Jt HE & H
(FA) (FRE)
w—H—HZ&® 20,900 -
g — 21,100
[ (800) (200)
R+ A=Z+—HZ&E% 20,100 20,900
25.  BE#
(a) AKE
R:4i%:
Bh  HEEE
RARH EHBRC HERR EEER  EARE  RTER BH
Féx  Ter  Fér  FET TERT TEL TEX
RoETME-F-RZ&R 409738 601,415 769 11,520 (1601)  (624352) 397,489
EREY - - - - 2,247 - 2047
-MRBLAEEMER L RE - (1,003) - - - - (1,003)
EEEH-BE] - - - - - B9 8509
RZZZMETZA=T-H
148 409738 600,412 769 11,520 646 (539243) 483,842
“EERE-R-H2ER
R 409738 600,412 769 11,520 646 (539.043) 483842
BERHBENEIRT
HEA4BIBAREIfEH
ZEMAE (ERHN) - - - - - 7467 7467
RoFETE-H-HZES
HEL]] 409738 600412 769 11,520 646 (331776) 491,309
EifmY - - - - 2,458 - 2,458
MR ENRREZERES = - - 900 - - 900
EEEEE - - - - - 18,149 28,149
RIERIEF-AZ+-H
1ER 409738 600412 769 12,420 3104 (503627) 522816
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(a) BERBITEXRZEREETLTH &% K
A4 H A
ZERZBIHAE _—_FENE ZERAE _BENE
F I Fi# T FiE T FsoT
# 5T 25,900 67,459 5,569 39,511
AR 72,970 17,355 - —
ES 44,433 36,025 44,407 35,946
Hofh g 44 — — -
143,347 120,839 49,976 75,457
24. JBA
ZEBHA ZREMNIE
Ji &% B & H
(TR F T (F ) F T
B
FREHEEC.LEIT
98 R 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
EEFITREE:
BREHEO1E T
4 B 772,182 77,218 772,182 77,218
(a) S IBHE

REZFZF=FRAAZTNLA - ARAFH - HERERT B EFTME
BHELMEHI M EHAERFNERZ AT EABKE MEBMRREBREZER

#MAREEI0E T

(i) BRER-FFNE=ZA+IARBHEBEEF L RTEHAR=
FoERAREFNERENEREY LR EZZFHMERZH
- R-EFAFF _AZ+—H CRETERTEZBREZFH

W
2 B B W Vi B B A7 A 1 7 {518 1ok JBe B 8 B
# T (T )
HE “EENE=H+SREE 0.83 12,000
ZEELE=ZA+EE
=] —EZENE=A++LtHBZE 0.83 8,100
ZEZtLEMNA_+H
20,100
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22.

23.

o herEEE

T
AR %
E

ERITHREH

KIE 2 BREE TT AT 3 & 5 AR:

B 8 A4 2o 5 A 0K 4 i 1) 35

W RAERZEE
HoHBIZ TREFER

HERRE é?/ 3 fE)

FEWEF 2 & %) T2 8 H
ﬁﬁgﬁzﬁ%lﬁﬂ*

RoBEEEF A=+

ZTHIEHR:

—H

AER
ZREHF -3 LR
F# T T T
13,135 11,591
40,253 9,952
29,782 10,129
83,170 31,672
A4 E
ZEEBHE  _ZEENE
Fi#Eon F# T
112,699 20,773
(111,955) (19,899)
744 874
744 1,684
~ (810)
744 874

CRE AT A SR R B RE U R B & RO MY EE 2022 AR

ENES REMEBEKIERAZEPFR &6 TRMAE £ B4 54,539,0008: 1 (—EZEN
££:879,000%: 76) F27,039,000% J& ( —EF Y4 : 15,023,000 7T) -
NAVPHBBHBRWE MBEEE BAER
A
ZEERLLY ZERNLE
F# T F# T
o T E
%‘w%tﬂiz e 2,778 2,489
HEe R &%ED
AfE . |
ZERRHE 2N “RETE ZRENLE
FHETT F#ETT F# T F# T
SRAITHFE K 143,299 120,703 49,976 75,457
ETRE 48 136 — —
e RBEITEH() 143,347 120,839 49,976 75,457
WITEST (FY5£28) (1,103) (1,158) - —
142,244 119,681 49,976 75,457
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(a) BRPYE
ZERAYE ZEZNE
FET F#T
+ Hb fF 77,342 79,164
EEIRE 131,361 116,347
208,703 195,511
20. BHERIL{BEWRE
A H AR AH
ZRBHE _EBFNE ZREHE ZFENE
F BT FET F i F#TT
ZEREHEWERE
# % (a) 83,170 31,672 — —
FEACRIE & (M3E21) 7,039 15,023 - —
i 52,242 25,374 650 _ 652
TE AT 3 H 876 910 324 387
Hith 18,655 10,511 28 13
161,982 83,490 1,002 1,052
a) HERGHEWXHE T
EEREHEBWHEZERER T
A4 1
ZEBhYE ZFENE
F T F T
0—30H 40,924 9,194
31—60H 16,710 5,340
61—90H 6,898 3,247
B0 H 34,027 33,148
98,559 50,929
78t < JRE S K TR R {E 4B 4 (15,389) (19,257)
83,170 31,672

RESBUHEMNS FRE-REEZIPBL TR EOHEEHATE
F-gHBWRHELFEMERBEHBRRZIBEMH AR -
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18.

19.

R RN ER-F- P 38 i

HW—H—BZz&8%

EMBERESAMEE (HH25)

BRT-FZAZ+—HBZ&ER

A EMEERE FRERSAE I EE:

BAES
B LB ATE

kRS R A
1

"R

HERHAEFR

IR 4%

£ B

B A
BRI H B
WERHBFRTH

BRPUE - HRPE
i8¢ V] 5 B R (E R

BROYEFH()

AHH

ZERHE mREWNE
T T Fi# T
28,440 28,440

900 —

29,340 28,440
“RBBHAE ZRB W
F# T F# T
o....29340 28,440
243,600 243,600
(243,600) (243,600)
29,340 28,440

A

ZREBHE ZRBNLE
FET F#E T
5,129 5,603

- 196

3,723 3,542

8,852 9,341

(2,759) (2,361)
_________ 6093 ______..6980
244,979 231,787
(36,276) (36,276)
______ 208,703 195511
214,796 202,491
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(d)

REAGLH

RTREERLA
LEERANEE
TERARMA ()
KXERARLA
EHREZARLA

Virtyre Limited

#MR/
BRLY

B/ Tk
RFE

il

B

BE/TE

B

BRf/
it kg
BATH ()

10,0008
BRAEIET

2,040,000% T

WERHEIET
REREAIST

MREREE

REBAK
HEH Lk
ARARE KATHE

- 100

ERXE3
BEER
bEY SR 33
BEREE
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WERE

nERE

EHERAR FiE

KERTBX HE

10% 7

REBEEH
EERE

ok ERAEIET - 100

44,000,000 A B % - 00 YEEE

EXARLE ()

(i)

(ii)

(1ii)

(iv)

BRAERWI R EZRGEN YR SRR - BZ_FTAE+ -
St —HEFEEREMERE & W E LA ESRTEME SR

HEBHMBAMIAERAFA ((REETH)) T—HRTERIZ FIEE
eEtE BREESAPRFEE_ZFTLF HBEE—PEREC
F-tFIE-MALBAZERAZMBELATHEEG KM GFE) ARL
A([EEAEH]) RESGEE - RESENEZRI P HEEEEREDR
AEEEHENLESEO00TARE MEEAHAREIZREEHE
mMEEmFTeBEFRZoBBEZHTERF,BHH-

LEERHMEH ITRERLARNIALFAZ2EMBELR A—H P
BALzhERE BEMAHIFE B2 _FFNE L.

KERTBREXERQANARAZ2EMB A & —F B R
AZHERE BEHLIE EE_FTETLE L.

AAFEREBREETHELT A REERLEN-
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&% — AEE2ME R
LR/ RETAK
ARRE/ HMEBR %4 W
REAT A8 BERY BAHE ) ARAKE AMTHE  FEEF
FE (BRI BERAR FE WEERAEIAT - 00 YERH
BUTHERAT  BE/FER  RERELEET - 00 HERZE
b T2500,000% BABE R
BERTRELY Ef
ERTEIET
RUEMERAT RERABE/  000RER - 00 BEER
EELTE AEIETE
IREREE
EERER
WEIET
EHEERAT B WEREEIET - 100 HERE
Geraldire Profits ERACES/ REEER - 100 BAEE
Limited Fig
BRELARLA Eit/TE WEBREEIET - 00 HERE
BRERARAT LRELEE REMIET - 00 BERRE
BERELI i 0B EREE - 100 WEEBEET
ERAT 100 TR ERERER
20,0008 g5
ERTHE
EERER
100 7T
BREMET EBEABE/ 100REREEIET - 100 BEEZER
EEERAA ElEbE
BRERAE i WEREMEIET - 100 YERE
EHEEARAT Eif WEREEIET - 00 BEER
ONEFEM Finance EEEREE/  1L00REREHE 100 -~ BEEEER
Limited Ei %1 NAREHE
%
ONFEM Investments HEETBE/ 108ER10£% 100 - REBE
Limited Fi
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W 8% — AEEIHBEEREM
EFEEREERTIFEAZHENR BRI ES A 55.00%K5.58% ° |
EHERERARAAAHTERR 2 AUECHEMRE - TREAZHE |

RERSEL BN BEEHAE 1
17. WEAR#E J
\
A4 ) |
ZERBHRYE Z—ZEENE /
F¥# T F# T \
FELEAHROHBE ERE 695,296 695,296 ‘
b AR (695,296) (695,296) ‘
l
BEXTHBAF(a) 51,423 51,928
WERTHE AT 2 BE (47,800) (47,800) |
_________ 3623 4128
FRE iz Bt B 2 | 3IA (b) 1,032,171 1,003,855
T ¢ A R SRR N W] Bk TE Z FE A (488,212) (511,674)
______ 543,959 492181
547,582 496,309
(a) EXTHEBARTLELETHEARZ 2B F34147,800,000% T (—EF M
£ 147,800,000 7C)  HB R ENEBESRNEHE-TERERERN S
AR W HEZEOREE -
(b) RBRUEKBAAZRELERN RERARERMER
) UTARZEFHF+T_E=+-HIZEMBALARZEE
g%/ BREHAL
HRRE/ HMRSR BEih UEA:
KRAALR BELY BA#H ) ARNHS AARHE  FEEH
SRBRERAT AR 1,000% - 100 HERE
BREEEL
FHEARAE Ei 500,000 - 100 REEERE
GREHIET
BoRRAA HH 10,0008 - 00 HEEE
EREEE
R mY A i 12,0071 ARE - 100 BEHAD
BFRAF ()
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W & — AEHEZHEEN
16. BH
(a) HWEMBHHERA/KENT:
A 4 4
(R4 e 3
FH#ET F#T F#ET
R_ZEWEE—-H—B
A Fe B T R - - —
BE_ZFNE

+-ZH=+—HitEE
BHEREEE - - -
nE 20,275 (12,738) 7,537
8y (1,317) 5,271 3,954
HiRERmEE : 18,958 (7,467) 11,491
R-ZEWE+S _-H=Z+—H
J 7 20,275 (12,738) 7,537
BFtHEss R (E (1,317) 5,271 3,954
R TH R E 18,958 (7,467) 11,491
RE_ZEFLHE

+ZH=+—HI1EHE
HI X MR VR E - AN AT 2 ) 18,958 (7,467) 11,491
FHEER®ABEEHE

BT fE iz #3470 0 %

(R H5£2(a)) - 7,467 7,467
YRS E BES 18,958 — 18,958
FE =% 425 — 425
R BE T FE 19,383 - 19,383
R-BEZHHE+_-H=Z+—H
s 19,383 - 19,383
EtEs R EE - - -
BB (E 19,383 — 19,383

(b)  WE WA IR
FHERBEES I M REAEETEAZEHsEELHELOT:

SRREE SRFNE
F T F i

HEFEHE 19,383 18,958

ReEtrBEuzThEsBERBERBREFE-dETAMNARSHERHT
REEERMBZ = FHMEHES - '
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AREZME RN

15, HHEHE

h—A— B2z
HMBEYR BREREE
E b

RT_A=Z=+—HZ&H%

Ty
ZREBHA ZEZFBNE
F# T F#& T
229,890 206,510
(5,187) (253)
15,196 23,633
239,899 229,890

BEYER _ZEFAF T _AZ+ - HFhBUEEARBMEARBEIERATDEN

fEE-EEIREFEYER —EERM B R EEE-

AEEZEREYXREEZIREEITNT

UREE BTIEORA:
RYAEX GERS05F)

R PE FTIHHEAFE:
BHHL (BRES504F)

ZRBRE  ZFFNF

F#TT Fi#&TT
236,299 228,100
3,600 1,790

5 T {8 £9236,299,000% 70 (= 2 JU £:215,000,000% 70) 2 R EYEEELRITH

B2 S (H28(a) -

- 590 .




R &% —

AE M HEER

(b)

¥ o]
AL AEDE KREL BR-2E
3 £ 3 BE  RIAE HK HH
Fikxr  F#Exr THEx  TEx  TER  FEx
REZEZWESZA=+—H
A 4827 9,355 7,585 5,476 4767 32,010
EHTEREE (1,173)  (7,389)  (5800)  (3665)  (3,810) (21,837
FEEE 3,654 1,966 1,785 1,811 957 10,173
RE_ZZn%
+ZHAZ+—-HEEE
HNEEEE 3,654 1,966 1,785 1811 957 10,173
BREE - 3 114 10 6 133
HEBEREYE 5,187 - - - - 5,187
RE - 759 882 1,448 904 3,993
iy - 8) (739) (460) @ (12
hE (88)  (1,372) (457) (588) (424)  (2,929)
BAEESE 8,753 1,348 1,585 2,221 1439 15346
R-RRLE
+=H=+-H
[ 10014 10,040 4,908 5,814 5677 36453
2R MEREE (1261)  (8692)  (3323)  (3593)  (4.238) (21,107)
EmEE 8,753 1,348 1,585 2,221 1439 15,346
ARt ERT2BREASFET:
CZRRHAE —ZEZN4E
F# T F T
MR EE ZTFHHARSE:
REIHE A (BI#R50F) 8,753 1,873
R P FTIHAFE:
R 4 GREB0E) ~ 1,781
8,753 3,654
RE(E48,753,000 T (EZNE &) Y HELT B REFEALHBRITHEE

Z AR A (BT EE28(a)) o
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13. BA
EEAEEREE SRR FE T A==+ -0 FERERE (ZFZW4E ) .
14. VE-BFEEEH

(a) PWE-BREEEHMLEHNT:

AEH
LR HEWE RBER BE-EE

)4 S B BE  Raf W BHE

T#xT T#x FéEx  TEr  TExT  FET
RZSZN4E-A—H
HA 4574 933 1095 11311 58% 42,031
ZHMEREE (1L604)  (8,108)  (8530)  (9,788)  (4782) (32,812)
IR 2970 1226 2426 1523 1074 9219
BRE-Z%N%

FZAZ—-HEER
MEEEE 2970 1226 242 1523 1074 9219
ERiEE - - - 3 5 8
HE -7 157 637 539 3,606
BRERENE 253 - - - - 253
BRI RER - - 27 227 - -
L Sldiilil - Y - - - 88 - 88
HERGER/ (BE) 493 - = (88) - 405
hE - - (61) (73) (32)  (186)
g (62)  (1,533)  (510)  (506)  (609)  (3,220)
BARERE 3654 1966 1785 1811 957 10,173
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10. PisH

MR A EAEE I EAT BB B BT AFENESHBE (CEENE:
) EAMNER ZBMBE U EEMAERANR SR AEBESESEE T ERRZHBITHER
FHE-

ZERLE ERENE

F#T F T
EHEHBIE - T
prEEBSEEs 3,675 -
=B E — A
A 653 977
WA EFBEBE (620) —
____________ 33 977
i FE B TH
mywEzE: - 105
(3,642) 1,082

AEMBERB AR BB BRR e arBAERZ MEF IR ERTE
gz BmBEmAER T
“RBLYE RFNE

F T F#T
B % B i F) 24,507 86,191
HEARAFHEE BN EHBRGFHEZBIH 4,351 15,841
WAFE S EEEE (4,295) -
BEARB Z WA (5,367) (22,587)
NEEI 3 2,898 7,322
BRI KRR HEEIR (1,229) -
KERBIEER — 506
SR (B E) (3,642) 1,082

MEFHERBREL7R% (CEEWE: 184%) - WMETHITANEEEWE A F
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11, AN B HERA A B RN

ANBREFE AL SRR EED ST A RN T BB P M 451,345,000
I (T EREIYLE 21,278,000 5T) o

12. HBRAMN

EREABHNZHAEFEBS A AT BRESA AN ZEILE &1 £28,149,000% 7T
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FRAFERBEEE T Z R M-
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ZAZEZNE =) JTEE - HMER E X @EFHBZE- SHNEBRLE (ZFZF
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ZRBRE _FENE
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HEe B EREYH R 2,557 2,224
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e mEmT:
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1,000,001% 7t £1,500,000% 7T - -
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2 2
FER-AEEAMERNZEALTIMNMTOMEEAMARER 2 SEEBNIELBE
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MEHE
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AL EZ R

88 (8] B Ar 2 3 I (E B T ALYE — 2 471,585,000 T ( W EE U £ 3,603,000
T HAATBAEEHERAFATFREACEE (B FEARAF ([HHEA
4 (FE) ) BEER2BEBEI-PRAEC (FH) 2 EBABRERZT L

MERE-EAETRE R (B BERAEEARNZPHES -

& WAl
ZRERE  —EBENE
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HHEWL
NERE_ZEFZIAF T _AZT—BLEE-AANFASES ([HF]) ZBEH
BT
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BREY B4
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EEMNEE - 1,300 — 50 1,360
B R tan — — — - _
il /NEE A+ — 1,040 15 — 1,055
ARG A 300 — — - 300
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910 4,476 15 50 5,461
REZ -_EZNE+_A=Z+-HULEE - EESE 2 MEeHBNT:
4 Hph
BREY Bk e
HEHEEH He ME MBALL BEML/XK B
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